# EFFECTS OF LINOLEIC (C18:2), OLEIC (C18:1), AND STEARIC (C18:0) ACIDS ON THE ANAEROBIC FERMENTATION OF GLUCOSE

By

### HOUSSAM A. ALOSTA

Bachelor of Science in Civil Engineering

Beirut Arab University

Beirut, Lebanon

1999

Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of the Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE May, 2002

# EFFECTS OF LINOLEIC (C $_{18:2}$ ), OLEIC (C $_{18:1}$ ), AND STEARIC (C $_{18:0}$ ) ACIDS ON THE ANAEROBIC FERMENTATION OF GLUCOSE

Thesis Approved: era MMAN Thesis Adviser el X IM Vanielle Bellmer M 1 sens Dean of the Graduate College

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to express my appreciation to my major advisor, Dr. Jerald Lalman for his supervision, guidance, and friendship. Dr. Lalman has filled a special role as advisor for this work; his concern for my individual development is appreciated. My appreciation extends also to Drs. William Clarkson, Danielle Bellmer, and Raymond Huhnke for serving on my committee. Special thanks to Dr. William Clarkson who introduced me to this area of research and for continued interest in my progress. I wish to thank Hector Cumba who lent invaluable technical support. I also wish to thank Dr. Randy Lewis for sharing several valuable comments during my oral defense. Further appreciation to the Oklahoma Agricultural Experimental Station at Oklahoma State University for providing financial support. Finally, I wish to thank the Department of Biosystems Engineering personnel at Oklahoma State University for their support and help during my time of study.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

# Chapter

# Page

~

1.0 INTROD	UCTION	1
1.1	Context	1
1.2	Objectives	2
1.3	Literature Review	3
1.4	Long-Chain Fatty Acids Industrial Applications	3
1.5	Lipids In Wastewater	4
1.6	LCFA β-Oxidation	9
1.7	Carbohydrates Fermentation	. 12
1.8	Problems Caused by LCFA Degradation	. 14
1.8.1	Biomass Flotation	15
1.8.2	Inhibitory Effects of LCFAs	15
2.0 MATERI	ALS AND METHODS	. 20
2.1	Experimental Plan	. 20
2.2	Reagents	. 21
2.3	Batch Reactors	. 22
2.4	Inoculum Reactors Operation	. 23
2.5	Serum Bottles Preparation	. 23
2.6	Gas Measurement	. 24
2.7	VFA Measurement	25
2.8	Glucose Measurement	26
2.9	LCFA Delivery Method	26
2.10	LCFA Extraction	28
2.11	LCFA Measurement	28
3.0 BATCH H	REACTOR OPERATION	30
3.1	Experimental Results	30
3.1.1	Glucose Consumption	30
3.1.2	VFA Degradation	31
3.1.3	Gas Production	33
3.1.4	Mass Balance	34
3.2	Discussion of Results	34
3.2.1	Glucose Degradation	34
3.2.2	VFA Degradation	35
3.2.3	Gas Production	36
3.2.4	Mass Balance	36
4.0 EFFECTS	S OF LINOLEIC (C18:2), OLEIC (C18:1), AND STEARIC (C18:0) ACID ON GLUCOSE	
DEGRADATI	ON	37
4.1	Experimental Results	37
4.1.1	Glucose Consumption	37
4.1.2	LCFAs Degradation	42

	4.1.3	VFAs Production	55
	4.1.4	Methane Production	62
	4.1.5	Mass Balance	65
4	1.2	Discussion of Results	67
	4.2.1	Glucose degradation	67
	4.2.2	LCFAs $\beta$ -Oxidation	68
	4.2.3	VFA Degradation	70
	4.2.4	Methane Production	73
5.0	INHIBI	TION KINETICS OF LINOLEIC (C18-2), OLEIC (C18-1), AND STEARIC (C18-0) ACIE	ON
GL	UCOSE I	DEGRADATION	75
5	5 1	Experimental Results	75
Ç	5.1.1	Glucose Degradation	
	5.1.2	VFAs Production	
	5.1.3	Methane Production	86
	5.1.4	Mass Balance	89
5	.2	Discussion Of Results	91
	5.2.1	Glucose consumption	
	5.2.2	VFAs Degradation	96
	5.2.3	Methane Production	96
6.0	CONCL	USIONS	98
7.0	FUTUR	E RECOMMENDATIONS	100
BIE	BLIOGRA	РНҮ	102
API	PENDIXE	S	112
A	Appendix A	A: Schematic Of The Batch Reactors	112
A	Appendix I	3: Free Energies (ΔG) For Some Reactions	113
A	ppendix (	C: Example Calculations for Statistical Comparisons, Degradation Rates, and Mass	
		Balances.	114

# LIST OF TABLES

Та	ble	<b>Page</b>
1.1	Selected Microorganisms Performing LCFAs Hydrogenation Reactions	9
2.1	Experimental Plan for Degradation Study	19
2.2	Inhibition Studies for LA/OA, LA/SA, and OA/SA Mixtures	20
2.3	Inhibition Studies for the LA/OA/SA Mixture	20
1.4	Scope of experiment and procedures to fulfill the study objectives	22
2.5	Ion Chromatography Eluent Concentration Gradient	24
2.6	Solubility of $C_2$ to $C_{18}$ acids (mg/L) at 20°C	25
2.7	Quantity of Hydroxide Used for LCFA Stock Solution Preparation	, 28
3.1	Glucose Degradation Rates for Control Cultures Receiving 2000 mg/L Glucose	31
3.2	Maximum Reaction Velocity (V <sub>nax</sub> ) for Control Cultures Receiving 2000 mg/L Glucose	31
3.3	Binding Affinity (K <sub>M</sub> ) for Control Cultures Receiving 2000 mg/L Glucose	31
4.1	Glucose Degradation Rates for Cultures Receiving Linoleic, Oleic, and Stearic Acids Plus 1000 mg/L Glucose.	41
4.2	Glucose Degradation Rates for Cultures Receiving Linoleic, Oleic, and Stearic Acids Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose.	41
4.3	LCFA Degradation Rates for Cultures Receiving Linoleic, Oleic, and Stearic Acid	53
4.4	LCFA Degradation Rates for Cultures Receiving Linoleic, Oleic, and Stearic Acid Plus 1000 mg/J Glucose	L 53
4.5	LCFAs Degradation Rates for Cultures Receiving 50 and 100 mg/L (total concentration) LCFA Mixtures	53
4.6	LCFAs Degradation Rates for Cultures Receiving 300 mg/L (total concentration) LCFA Mixtures.	54
4.7	LCFAs Degradation Rates for the Cultures Receiving 500 and 700 mg/L (total concentration) LCFA Mixtures.	54

## LIST OF TABLES

Tal	TablePa	
4.8	LCFAs Degradation Rates for the Cultures Receiving 1000 mg/L (total concentration) LCFA Mixtures	54
5.1	Glucose Maximum Reaction Velocity ( $V_{max}$ ) for Cultures Receiving Varying Amounts of Individual and Mixed LCFAs.	78
5.2	Glucose Binding Affinity Constant ( $K_{MApp}$ ) for Cultures Receiving Varying Amounts of Individua and Mixed LCFAs.	1 79
5.3	LCFAs Binding Affinity Constant (K <sub>1</sub> ) for Cultures Receiving Varying Amounts of Individual and Mixed LCFAs.	79

Fig	gure	Page
1.1	Degradation pathways of carbohydrates and lipids in wastewater	8
1.2	Interaction between linoleic acid and the active sites	10
1.3	Pathways of glucose degradation	14
2.1	Percent Recovery for 50 and 1000 mg/L C <sub>8</sub> to C <sub>18</sub> in Hexane:MTBE	27
3.1	Glucose Degradation Profiles for Reactor A2.	30
3.2	Acetate Degradation Profile for Reactor A2	32
3.3	Propionate Degradation Profile for Reactor A2	32
3.4	Methane Production Profile for Reactor A2.	33
3.5	Carbon Mass Balance for Reactor A2.	34
4.1	Glucose Degradation Profiles for Cultures Receiving Linoleic Acid Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose	38
4.2	Glucose Degradation Profiles for Cultures Receiving Linoleic Acid Plus 1000 mg/L Glucose	38
4.3	Glucose Degradation Profiles for Cultures Receiving Oleic Acid Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose	39
4.4	Glucose Degradation Profiles for Cultures Receiving Oleic Acid Plus 1000 mg/L Glucose	39
4.5	Glucose Degradation Profiles for Cultures Receiving Stearic Acid Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose	40
4.6	Glucose Degradation Profiles for Cultures Receiving Stearic Acid Plus 1000 mg/L Glucose	40
4.7	Linoleic Acid Degradation Profiles for Cultures Receiving 1000 mg/L Glucose	43
4.8	Palmitic Acid Production Profiles for Cultures Receiving Linoleic Acid Plus 1000 mg/L Glucos	e 43
4.9	Oleic Acid Degradation Profiles for Cultures Receiving 1000 mg/L Glucose	44
4.10	Palmitic Acid Production Profiles for Cultures Receiving Oleic Acid Plus 1000 mg/L Glucose.	44
4.11	Stearic Acid Degradation Profiles for Cultures Receiving 1000 mg/L Glucose	45
4.12	Linoleic Acid Degradation Profiles for Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Linoleic and Oleic Acids Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose	46

Fig	ure Page
4.13	Oleic Acid Degradation Profiles for Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Linoleic and Oleic Acids Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose
4.14	Palmitic Acid Production Profiles for Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Linoleic and Oleic AcidsPlus 2000 mg/L Glucose
4.15	Linoleic Acid Degradation Profiles for Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Linoleic and Stearic Acids Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose
4.16	Stearic Acid Degradation Profiles for Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Linoleic and Stearic Acids Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose
4.17	Palmitic Acid Production Profiles for Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Linoleic and Stearic Acids Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose
4.18	Oleic Acid Degradation Profiles for Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Oleic and Stearic Acids Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose
4.19	Stearic Acid Degradation Profiles for Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Oleic and Stearic Acids plus 2000 mg/L Glucose
4.20	Palmitic Acid Production Profiles for Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Oleic and Stearic Acids Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose
4.21	Linoleic Acid Degradation Profiles for Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Linoleic, Oleic, and Stearic Acids Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose
4.22	Oleic Acid Degradation Profiles for Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Linoleic, Oleic, and Stearic Acids Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose
4.23	Stearic Acid Degradation Profiles for Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Linoleic, Oleic, and Stearic Acids Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose
4.24	Palmitic Acid Production Profiles for Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Linoleic, Oleic, and Stearic Acids Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose
4.25	Acetic Acid Production Profiles for Cultures Receiving Linoleic Acid Plus 1000 mg/L Glucose 55
4.26	Acetic Acid Production Profiles for Cultures Receiving Oleic Acid Plus 1000 mg/L Glucose 56
4.27	Acetic Acid Production Profiles for Cultures Receiving Stearic Acid Plus 1000 mg/L Glucose 57
4.28	Propionic Acid Production Profiles for Cultures Receiving Linoleic Acid Plus 1000 mg/L Glucose 59

# Figure

# Page

4.29	Propionic Acid Production Profiles for Cultures Receiving Oleic Acid Plus 1000 mg/L Glucose 59
4.30	Propionic Acid Production Profiles for Cultures Receiving Stearic Acid Plus 1000 mg/L Glucose 60
4.31	Butyric Acid Production Profiles for Cultures Receiving Linoleic Acid Plus 1000 mg/L Glucose 61
4.32	Methane Production Profiles for Cultures Receiving Linoleic Acid Plus 1000 mg/L Glucose
4.33	Methane Production Profiles for Cultures Receiving Oleic Acid Plus 1000 mg/L Glucose
4.34	Methane Production Profiles for Cultures Receiving Stearic Acid Plus 1000 mg/L Glucose 64
4.35	Mass Balance for Cultures Receiving Linoleic Acid Plus 1000 mg/L Glucose
4.36	Mass Balance for Cultures Receiving Oleic Acid Plus 1000 mg/L Glucose
4.37	Mass Balance for Cultures Receiving Stearic Acid Plus 1000 mg/L Glucose
5.1	Glucose Degradation Profile for Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Linoleic and Oleic Acids Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose
5.2	Glucose Degradation Profile for Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Linoleic and Stearic Acids Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose
5.3	Glucose Degradation Profile for Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Oleic and Stearic Acids Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose
5.4	Glucose Degradation Profile for Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Linoleic, Oleic, and Stearic Acids Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose
5.5	Butyrate Production in Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Linoleic and Oleic Acids Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose
5.6	Propionate Production in Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Linoleic and Oleic Acids Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose
5.7	Propionate Production in Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Linoleic and Stearic Acids Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose
5.8	Propionate Production in Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Oleic and Stearic Acids Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose
5.9	Propionate Production in Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Linoleic, Oleic and Stearic Acids Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose

Fig	ure P	age
5.10	Acetate Production in Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Linoleic and Oleic Acids Plus 2000 mg/ Glucose	L 84
5.11	Acetate Production in Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Linoleic and Stearic Acids Plus 2000 mg Glucose	:/L 84
5.12	Acetate Production in Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Oleic and Stearic Acids Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose	85
5.13	Acetate Production in Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Linoleic, Oleic and Stearic Acids Plus 20 mg/L Glucose	)00 85
5.14	Methane Production in Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Linoleic and Oleic Acids Plus 2000 mg Glucose.	/L 87
5.15	Methane Production in Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Linoleic and Stearic Acids Plus 2000 m Glucose	ıg/L 87
5.16	Methane Production in Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Oleic and Stearic Acids Plus 2000 mg/I Glucose	_ 88
5.17	Methane Production in Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Linoleic, Oleic, and Stearic Acids Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose.	88
5.18	Mass Balance for Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Linoleic and Oleic Acids Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose	89
5.19	Mass Balance for Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Linoleic and Stearic Acids Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose.	90
5.20	Mass Balance for Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Oleic and Stearic Acids Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose.	90
5.21	Mass Balance for Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Linoleic, Oleic, and Stearic Acids Plus 2000 Glucose	mg/L 91
5.22	Eadie-Hofstee Plot for Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Linoleic and Oleic Acids Plus 2000 mg/ Glucose	L 92
5.23	Eadie-Hofstee Plot for Cultures Receiving Linoleic Acid Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose	93
5.24	Eadie-Hofstee Plot for Cultures Receiving Oleic Acid Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose	93

Figu	ure Pa	age
5.25	Eadie-Hofstee Plot for Cultures Receiving Stearic Acid Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose	94
5.26	Eadie-Hofstee Plot for Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Linoleic and Stearic Acids Plus 2000 mg Glucose	z/L 94
5.27	Eadie-Hofstee Plot for Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Oleic and Stearic Acids Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose	95
5.28	Eadie-Hofstee Plot for Cultures Receiving Mixtures of Linoleic, Oleic, and Stearic Acids Plus 2000 mg/L Glucose	95
A.1	Primary and Secondary Reactors Schematic.	112

## Nomenclature

COD	chemical oxygen demand
GC	gas chromatography
IC	ion chromatography
Kı	inhibitor binding affintity
$K_{M app}$	substrate apparent binding affinity
LA	linoleic acid
LCFA	long-chain fatty acids
OA	oleic acid
SA	stearic acid
TSS	total suspended solids
VSS	volatile suspended solids
VFA	volatile fatty acids
Vmax	maximum reaction velocity

### **1.0 INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 Context

Industrial effluents such as effluents from edible oil (Paredes *et al.*, 1999), egg (Xu *et al.*, 2001), cheese (Harper *et al.*, 1971), and ice-cream processing industries (Borja and Banks, 1995) contain significant amounts of fats, oils, and carbohydrates. The composition of these effluents, however, is variable and depends of the processing industry. These types of effluents are of greater concern in anaerobic treatment systems due to the inhibitory effects of long-chain fatty acids (LCFAs) against microorganisms.

When treated anaerobically, carbohydrates and lipids in wastewater are first hydrolyzed to simple sugars and LCFAs respectively. In turn, sugars and LCFAs are converted to VFAs which is ultimately degraded to acetate and subsequently to methane carbon dioxide. Fats and oils from animals and vegetables are known for their ability to inhibit anaerobic microorganisms. Nieman (1954) reported that the inhibitory effects of unsaturated fatty acids increased as the number of double bonds increased. Similarly, Lalman and Bagely (2000, 2001) reported that LCFA inhibitory effects on acetogenesis increased as follows: linoleic acid (LA) > oleic acid (OA) > stearic acid (SA). Long-chain fatty acids (LCFAs) toxicity has been proposed to be the mechanism of inhibition for suspended or flocculent sludge (Hwu *et al.* 1996). Demeyer and Henderickx (1967) explained that unsaturated LCFAs toxicity is caused by adsorption onto the bacterial cell with subsequent alteration of the cell permeability.

The effects of LCFAs on acetogenesis and methanogenesis have been reported by several researches (Alves *et al.* (2001), Lalman and Bagley (2001), Lalman and Bagley

(2000), Rinzema *et al.* (1994), Angelidaki and Ahring (1992), Koster and Cramer (1987), Hanaki *et al.* (1981)). Lalman and Bagley (in press) and Hanaki *et al.* (1981) have reported some work on the effects of LCFAs on glucose fermentation. However, there exist several unanswered questions on the effects of LCFAs. The objectives of this research is to assist in filling the gap of knowledge which still exist in the literature.

#### 1.2 Objectives

The objective of this work is to examine the degradation of three  $C_{18}$  LCFAs and inhibition of LCFAs on the degradation of glucose. Except for the work of Hanaki *et al.* (1981) and Lalman and Bagley (in press), no other work has reported the effects of LCFAs on carbohydrates fermentation.

In the first objective, the effects of three LCFAs on glucose degradation will be investigated. The LCFAs under investigation include linoleic ( $C_{18:2}$ ), oleic ( $C_{18:0}$ ), and stearic ( $C_{18:1}$ ) acids. LCFA initial degradation rates from control cultures will be compared to those from cultures fed with 1000 and 2000 mg/L glucose.

In the second objective, the kinetics of LCFA inhibition on glucose fermentation will be examined. Cultures receiving individual LCFAs will be compared with those receiving LCFA mixtures to determine if any synergistic effects exist. This is particularly important because many food processing wastewater effluents contain LCFA mixtures. LCFA mixtures under consideration include LA/SA, LA/OA, SA/OA, and LA/SA/OA. This part of the study is of particular importance because, to date, no inhibition kinetics data on individual or mixtures of LCFAs are available.

#### **1.3 Literature Review**

Long-chain fatty acids (LCFAs) refer to saturated or unsaturated straight-chain even or odd-numbered carbon atom carboxylic acids that are commonly found in lipids. Most commercial fatty acids are obtained through hydrolysis or saponification of animal and vegetable fats and oils. Fats and oils and their fatty acids may be consumed edibly or used in the manufacture of many products. Animal fats are produced at both meatpacking plants and independent rendering plants. Animal fat, an important raw material for LCFA manufacturing, is a primary source of stearic and oleic acids. In contrast, vegetable oils are an important raw material for fatty acid and fatty ester production principally because of their high LCFA content.

Typically, LCFAs are the major constituents of oils and fats. LCFAs can be found in vegetable oils like cottonseed, soybean, and olive oils and animal fats like whale oil, fish liver oil, and lard oil. Shorter-chain acids ( $C_4$ - $C_{10}$ ) are mostly present in milk fat whereas longer chain acids ( $C_{12}$ - $C_{24}$ ) are found in seed oil and animal fat (Gunstone, 1967). The percent of LCFAs in these oils, however, is variable. Cottonseed oil, for example, consists of the glycerol esters of linoleic (44%), oleic (32%), palmitic (21%), stearic (2%), and myristic (0.5%) acids. Whereas olive oil consists of oleic (84.6%), palmitic (8%), linoleic (5%), stearic (2%), myristic (0.2%), and arachidic (0.2%) acids (% by weight).

#### **1.4 Long-Chain Fatty Acids Industrial Applications**

Fatty acids in the form of esters, amides, and alcohol sulfates are used in soap manufacturing due to their antibacterial properties. They are also used as surface-active

agents and for removing odor-causing substances. Fatty acids represent a very important ingredient in the coating industry such as paint industry, where natural unsaturated oils and heat-polymerized oils are the dominant constituent of exterior paints, and epoxy resin esters industry. In cosmetic manufacturing, fatty acids and their derivatives are widely used with stearic and palmitic acids in many formulations. The rubber industry also represents a major user of fatty acids and their derivatives. They are used as components for emulsifiers and emulsion polymerization. In the textile industry, many synthetic fattyacid-based detergents are used in textile scouring operations. Also, sulfated oleic acid esters are widely used to assist in dyeing operations. Food processing is also another industry where LCFAs are commonly used. LCFAs are main ingredients for shortenings, dairy products like margarine and ice cream, confections, and starch products like macaroni and potato products. The majority of fatty acids and their derivatives are used as emulsifiers, solubilizers, dispersing agents, or stabilizers in pharmaceuticals. They are also used as a processing aid in antibiotics manufacturing, as protective coatings for medicinal agents, as ointment bases, and most importantly as bactericides.

#### 1.5 Lipids In Wastewater

Lipids are one of the major organic compounds found in domestic and industrial wastewaters (Kramer, 1971). In domestic sewage, lipids concentration range from 40 mg/L to 100 mg/L (Foster, 1992). Since lipids are water insoluble, they exist either as an emulsion or as a separate layer (Kramer, 1971). Industrial wastewater effluents contain much higher concentrations of lipids and are of greater concern due to the lipids' potential toxicity to wastewater treatment microorganisms. Edible oil processing, egg-

4

processing, slaughterhouses, fishmeal factories, dairy processing, and potato chips and confectionery industries are examples of food processing industries generating effluents containing LCFAs.

Edible oil industries are one of the major contributors to wastewater with high lipids contents. This wastewater arises during fruit extraction and usually contains pulp, mucilage, and oil (Paredes *et al.* 1999). Paredes *et al.* (1999) reported that olive mill wastewater collected from different mills in southern Spain contains fats and carbohydrates in varying amounts. The fat content varied between 0.55 to 11.37 % and carbohydrates ranged from 3.37 to 32.91 % (dry weight). Oil and grease concentration in wastewater effluents, from palm oil industries in Malaysia, is approximately 8,000 mg/L (Ma and Ong, 1986). In terms of biological oxygen demand (BOD), this concentration is 100 times more polluting than domestic sewage. In the Mediterranean region, olive oil mill wastewater is a substantial pollutant of both terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems. This region alone generates  $3.0 \times 10^7$  m<sup>3</sup>/year of wastewater containing high organic loads (D'Annibale *et al.* 1999) with Spain and Italy being the greatest contributors (Paredes *et al.*, 1999).

It is estimated that egg processing in the U.S. generates more that 9.46 billion liters (2.5 Billion gallons) of wastewater annually ranging from 4,000 to 14,000 mg COD (chemical oxygen demand)/L and containing a substantial amount of egg fat (32 to 42% by weight) (Xu *et al.* 2001). Moreover, Xu *et al.* (2001) reported that these organic compounds in wastewater cause serious pollution problems. Several approaches, mainly chemical precipitation or coagulation technologies, have been proposed to remove these

5

organics. However, the increasing costs for chemical and physical treatment make biological treatment more economically feasible.

Slaughterhouses are also among the major contributors of oil and grease waste. The concentration is variable and ranges from 100 mg/L (Sayed *et al.* 1987) to 897 mg/L (Sachon, 1984). The reason for this variation is reported to be caused by the type of process, water consumption, and animal type and size (Johns, 1995).

Performance results of a pilot-scale anaerobic treatment system treating wastewater from a poultry processing plant have been presented by Harper et al. (1990). They reported that fats, oils, and greases in wastewater varied between 169 mg/L to 1316 mg/L. In a survey of the U.S. dairy industry, Harper et al. (1971) reported the average amount of wastewater generated for cheese producers was 3.14 m<sup>3</sup> wastewater per ton of milk processed. In contrast, Danalewich et al. (1998) reported the amount of wastewater generated was 2 to 3 times less than the data provided by Harper et al. (1971). According to Danalewich et al. (1998), this reduction is due to increased plant size, automation in product processing, and waste minimization practices by dairy industries. The mean total chemical oxygen demand (COD) of the wastewater was 2,855 mg/L. However, they did not report what percentage of the total COD was derived from fat instead they reported that the whole milk was 4% fat by weight. On the other hand, Hwang and Hansen (1998) estimated that wastewater from a cheese processing industry produce as much as 62,838 mg/L of total COD of which 3.3% (2,060 mg/L) was derived from fat. The reason for the variation in COD concentration reported by Danalewich et al. (1998) is likely due to the dilute character of wastewater which included wastewaters from cheese manufacturing as well as utility operations while Hwang and Hansen (1998) reported the total COD for

wastewater arising only from cheese manufacturing. In comparison, Yu and Fang (2001a) reported dairy wastewaters containing 9,870 mg/L carbohydrates and 12,600 mg/L lipids. Yu and Fang (2001b) also reported a dairy wastewater containing 1,240 mg/L carbohydrates and 1,670 mg/L lipids.

Effluents from ice-cream industries also contain significant amounts of carbohydrates and lipids. Borja and Banks (1995) investigated the response of an anaerobic fluidized bed reactor treating ice-cream wastewater. They reported the average amount of carbohydrate, starch, and total fat (saturated, monosaturated, and polyunsaturated) were 0.21%, 0.001%, and 0.063% (of the total weight) respectively.

Tuna processing is also another major industry contributing to wastewater containing LCFAs. Nair (1990) reported that the waste load discharged from tuna canning factories contains BOD levels ranging from 3,000 mg/L to 5,000 mg/L with highly variable oil and grease levels. Guerrero *et al.* (1998) also reported that fishmeal effluent is rich in polyunsaturated LCFAs. The estimated COD range for this effluent was between 30,000 to 120,000 mg/L with a fat and carbohydrate content at approximately 21 and 7% respectively.

El-Gohary (1999) examined the anaerobic digestion of wastewaters from potato chip and confectionery factories. Oil and grease concentration averaged 367 mg/L for confectionery wastewater and 170 mg/L for potato chips wastewater. In addition to oil and grease, wastewater effluents from potato processing industries contain significant quantities of carbohydrates.

In wastewaters from dairy, ice cream, and potato processing industries, the presence of both carbohydrates and LCFAs is of interest because of the inhibition caused

7

by LCFAs during anaerobic treatment. Carbohydrates and lipids are first hydrolyzed to simple sugars and LCFAs respectively. In turn, sugars and LCFAs are converted to VFAs which is ultimately degraded to methane. Figure 1.1 shows the pathways of both carbohydrates and lipids in wastewater. Several researchers have shown that LCFAs are inhibitory to acidogens and methanogens (Hanaki *et al.*, 1981; Koster and Cramer, 1987; Angelidaki and Ahring, 1992; Rinzema *et al.*, 1994; Lalman and Bagley, 2000; and Alves *et al.*, 2001). However, except for the work of Hanaki *et al.* (1981) and Lalman and Bagley (in press) no other work investigated the effects of LCFAs on acidogens and methanogens.



Figure 1.1. Degradation pathways of carbohydrates and lipids in wastewater (adapted from Gujer and Zehnder, 1983)

To reduce pollution caused by wastewaters containing high fat concentrations. some industries, particularly dairy industries, recycle and reuse waste components such as for example, using cheese whey for animal feed (Perle et al. 1995). Another method to reduce pollution is to use physical-chemical treatment. However, this type of treatment is costly and provides poor results in removing soluble COD (Vidal et al. 2000). This is a major concern since the largest fraction of the fat and grease present in wastewater is present in a nonsettleable form (Kramer, 1971). Typically, anaerobic treatment is suitable and cost-effective for this type of wastewater in spite of the problems associated with treating effluents containing high fat concentrations (Martinez et al. 1995; Saxena et al. 1986; Sayed et al. 1988). Anaerobic treatment has several advantages over aerobic treatment because it can accommodate higher organic loadings, it eliminates the cost associated with aeration, less biomass is produced, and usually the end products are more valuable.

#### **1.6** LCFA $\beta$ -Oxidation

Several microorganisms are reported to carry out the hydrogenation of unsaturated LCFAs. Selected microorganisms reported to mediate the hydrogenation of linoleic and oleic acids are listed in Table 1.1.

Table 1.1. Selected microorganisms performing LCFAs hydrogenation reactions						
LCFA	Product	Species	Reported by			
LA	$\begin{array}{c} \textit{Trans-11-C}_{18:1} \\ \textit{Cis-9-C}_{18:1} \\ C_{18:0} \end{array}$	Fusocillus T344	Hazlewood <i>et al.</i> (1976) Kemp <i>et al.</i> (1975)			
OA	10-hydroxystearic acid	Nocardia paraffinae	Latrasse et al. (1997)			

Novak and Carlson (1970) reported that complete LCFA saturation is required before  $\beta$ -oxidation is initiated. In contrast, several researchers have reported shorter carbon chain unsaturated LCFAs by-products from the degradation of linoleic and oleic acids (Canovas-Diaz et al. 1991; Lalman and Bagley 2000). These studies provide evidence that complete saturation is not a complete prerequisite for  $\beta$ -oxidation. Figure 1.2 shows the interaction between LA and the active sites as reported by Harfoot (1978). The substrate is attached to hydrogen bond and hydrogen donor sites, biohydrogenation of LA to trans-11-octadecenoic acid is catalyzed by linoleic acid  $\Delta^{12}$ -*cis*,  $\Delta^{11}$ -*trans*isomerase (Kepler *et al.*, 1971). The conformation structure of LA may assist in binding to the enzyme active site and hence, higher degradation rates are observed compared to OA and SA.



Figure 1.2 Interaction between linoleic acid and the active sites as reported by Harfoot (1978).

LCFAs are degraded via the  $\beta$ -oxidation of a fatty acyl-CoA intermediate. Equation (1) shows the overall reaction of LA  $\beta$ -oxidation. The products of  $\beta$ -oxidation are acetic acid and an LCFA with two fewer carbon atoms than the original acid. Equation (1) assumes full saturation of LA to SA prior to  $\beta$ -oxidation. This cycle is repeated until complete conversion of the fatty acid molecule to acetic acid is accomplished. Fatty acids contain more energy per carbon atom than other biological molecules (Gunstone, 1967). The oxidation of one palmitate (C<sub>16</sub>) molecule, for example, has a net yield of 129 ATPs compared to glucose which only produces 2 ATPs in anaerobic glycolysis and 38 ATPs in aerobic metabolism (Voet & Voet, 1995).

$$C_{18}H_{31}O_{2}^{-} \xrightarrow{+H_{2}} C_{18}H_{33}O_{2}^{-} \xrightarrow{+H_{2}} C_{18}H_{35}O_{2}^{-}$$

$$\downarrow + 2H_{2}O$$

$$C_{16}H_{31}O_{2}^{-} + C_{2}H_{3}O_{2}^{-} + 2H_{2} + H^{+} \qquad (1)$$

$$\downarrow + 2H_{2}O$$

$$C_{14}H_{27}O_{2}^{-} + C_{2}H_{3}O_{2}^{-} + 2H_{2} + H^{+}$$

$$\downarrow \text{Several }\beta\text{-oxidation steps}$$

$$CH_{4} + CO_{2} \longleftarrow C_{2}H_{3}O_{2}^{-} + 2H_{2} + H^{+}$$

During the  $\beta$ -oxidation, the electron produced is deposited on a suitable electron acceptor such as H<sup>+</sup> to produce hydrogen gas. The electrons from hydrogen oxidation can enter into several pathways. For example, Weng and Jeris (1976) suggest hydrogenotrophic methanogens used H<sub>2</sub> to form CH<sub>4</sub>. Another intermediate of the  $\beta$ oxidation of fatty acids is acetyl coenzyme A. Upon hydrolysis, acetyl co A produces acetic acid which is degraded by aceticlastic methanogens to methane and carbon dioxide (Equation 2).

$$C_2H_4O_2 \rightarrow CH_4 + CO_2 \tag{2}$$

When treated anaerobically, lipids are hydrolyzed to LCFA and glycerol (Hanaki *et al.* 1981). Although fat hydrolysis is not rate limiting (Hukelekian and Muller, 1958), lipids particles usually have slower hydrolysis rates in contrast to carbohydrates and proteins. On average, the first order hydrolysis constant is 3 times slower than that of protein and 5 times slower than that of carbohydrates (Christ *et al.* 1999). Accordingly the rate at which fat particles hydrolyze may affect the start-up time of anaerobic reactors treating wastewaters with a high fat content (Masse *et al.* 1999). To minimize this problem, several researchers have proposed the use of a two-phase anaerobic process (Hanaki *et al.* 1981; Komatsu *et al.* 1991). The use of such a system allows the removal of suspended solids and partial hydrolysis and acidification in the first stage while methanogenesis occurs in the second stage.

#### 1.7 Carbohydrates Fermentation

Under anaerobic conditions, complex carbohydrates, after hydrolysis to simple sugars, are converted to volatile fatty acids (VFA). VFAs are further converted to acetate,  $CO_2$ , and  $H_2$  by acetogens and finally, acetate is degraded by aceticlastic methanogens. Hydrogenotrophic methanogens convert  $H_2$  and  $CO_2$  to  $CH_4$ . Several clostridial species are able to ferment sugars to butyric acid. Equation (3) shows the overall reaction pathway for the conversion of glucose to butyrate.

$$C_6H_{12}O_6 \rightarrow C_4H_8O_2 + 2CO_2 + 2H_2$$
 (3)

Zigová and Śturdik (2000) listed 10 different species capable of producing butyrate. Of these species, strains of *Clostridium* sp are the most commonly isolated from wastewater. The metabolic pathways of *Clostridium*, which are obligate anaerobes, produce several products including acetic and butyric acids (Evans and Wang, 1990). In the formation of butyrate, two acetic acid molecules are converted to butyrate (Equation 4).

$$2C_{2}H_{4}O_{2} + 2H_{2} \rightarrow C_{4}H_{8}O_{2} + 2H_{2}O$$
(4)

In contrast, acetogens are able to convert butyrate to acetate. Gujer and Zehnder (1983) reported that conversion of butyrate to acetate is thermodynamically unfavorable under standard conditions and at pH of 7. For this reaction to be favorable, the hydrogen produced must be readily utilized by hydrogenotrophic methanogens.

The production of propionate from glucose is also feasible. The bacteria mediating this reaction (Equation (5)) is of the genus *Propionibacterium* (Tyree *et al.* 1991). Mosey (1983) proposed, using a mathematical model, that, under shock loads, the concentration of propionate increases much more than that of acetate and butyrate.

$$1.5C_6H_{12}O_6 \rightarrow 2C_3H_6O_2 + C_2H_4O_2 + CO_2 + H_2O$$
(5)

Peck *et al.* (1986) reported that propionate-degrading bacteria were the most sensitive of the VFA-degrading bacteria when subjected to a temperature shock. In addition, propionate degradation is sensitive to the hydrogen partial pressure  $P_{H2}$ . Confirmation of this observation has been reported by Fuş and Wiesmann (1995). Supporting research by Mosey (1983) and Boone and Xun (1987) also showed that increasing hydrogen partial pressure inhibits propionate degradation. Of the many microorganisms carrying out glucose fermentation, each population mediates the conversion of glucose to a different product. Because mixed cultures treating wastewater contain different microorganism populations, a variety of glucose byproducts are produced. Figure 1.3 summarizes several glucose fermentation pathways which are of interest for this research.



Figure 1.3. Pathways of glucose degradation (adapted from Zigová and Šturdik, 2000).

#### 1.8 Problems Caused By LCFA Degradation

Although degradable, LCFA have been reported to cause two major problems during anaerobic treatment: biomass flotation with subsequent washout due to LCFA adsorption

onto the biomass and acute LCFA toxicity against both methanogens and acetogens (Alves et al. 2001).

#### **1.8.1 Biomass Flotation**

Biomass flotation and washout caused by the adsorption of LCFA onto granular sludge has been reported as the major reason for reactor failure (Lettinga and Hulshoff Pol, 1992). Hwu *et al.* (1998) investigated the effect of biosorption of LCFAs on the performance of upflow anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB) reactors. They observed that adsorption of oleic acid caused sludge flotation of granular sludge in a UASB reactor at concentrations well below the toxicity limits. Hwu *et al.* (1998) concluded that sludge flotation is caused by adsorption and depends on LCFA loading rates rather on LCFA concentrations. This is particularly important in anaerobic wastewater treatment systems such as high-rate UASB reactors. In fact, several high-rate reactors treating wastewaters from slaughterhouses containing high fat concentrations suffered severe operational problems (Martinez *et al.* 1995; Saxena *et al.* 1986; Sayed *et al.* 1988). Rinzema *et al.* (1993) also reported biomass flotation and total biomass washout in a UASB reactor when lipids loading rates exceeded 2,000 to 3,000 mg COD/L.

#### 1.8.2 Inhibitory Effects of LCFAs

Fats and oils from animals and vegetables are known for their ability to inhibit microorganisms. Harris *et al.* (1932) observed increasing inhibition of microorganisms in foods with oils containing more unsaturated and longer-chain fatty acids. Nieman (1954) showed unsaturated fatty acids exerted antibacterial effects on gram-positive bacteria and

yeast but they did not have an effect on gram-negative bacteria. He concluded that the inhibitory effects of unsaturated fatty acids increased as the number of double bonds increased. Accordingly, Fuller and Moore (1967) observed that the inhibitory effect of LA was far greater than that of OA. In addition, several studies have shown that monoglycerides are active against gram-positive bacteria and certain fungi (Kabara *et al.* 1972, Kato and Shibasaki, 1975). LCFAs toxicity has been reported to be the mechanism of inhibition for suspended or flocculent sludge (Hwu *et al.* 1996). Several studies showed that LCFA are inhibitory, at low concentrations, to various microorganisms (Lalman and Bagley, 2000; Angelidaki and Ahring, 1990, Koster and Cramer, 1987; Hanaki *et al.*, 1981).

Research conducted by Hwu *et al.* (1998) has shown that adsorption of LCFA is prerequisite for their biodegradation. Moreover, Sayed *et al.* (1988) and Rinzema *et al.* (1993) suggested that fat adsorption to the surface of the anaerobic sludge may limit the transport of soluble substrates to the biomass and subsequently cause a decrease in the substrate conversion rate. Accordingly, Demeyer and Henderickx (1967) explained that unsaturated LCFAs toxicity is caused by adsorption onto the bacterial cell with subsequent alteration of the cell permeability.

Koster and Cramer (1987) studied the effect of four saturated fatty acids ( $C_{8:0}$ ,  $C_{10:0}$ ,  $C_{12:0}$ ,  $C_{14:0}$ ) and one unsaturated fatty acid ( $C_{18:1}$ ) on aceticlastic methanogens. They reported a toxicity threshold below which aceticlastic methanogenic acitivity was not affected by the presence of LCFAs. The greatest threshold concentration was 6.75 mM (975 mg/L) for  $C_{8:0}$  and the lowest was 1.6 mM (320 mg/L) for  $C_{12:0}$ . Moreover, a mixture of lauric and myristic acids was reported to be more inhibitory than individual

LCFAs. This is of particular importance because in many cases effluents contain a mixture of LCFAs rather than individual acids. Therefore, consideration should be taken into when designing a reactor to treat wastewater with high fat contents since the presence of more than one LCFA may cause synergistic toxic effects.

Work reported by Hanaki *et al.* (1981) showed the effect of LCFAs on all stages of anaerobic digestion. They showed LCFAs are inhibitory to several bacterial populations. Particularly, LCFAs were shown to affect the amount of hydrogen produced by acetogenic organisms which are responsible for the  $\beta$ -oxidation of LCFA (Vidal *et al.* 2000). They monitored the degradation of acetate, n-butyrate, and glucose in the presence of oleate (C<sub>18:1</sub>). In comparison, Hanaki *et al.* (1981) did not monitor glucose directly. Instead, acetate produced was used as an indicator of glucose fermentation. In addition to inhibiting its own  $\beta$ -oxidation, oleate was also inhibitory to H<sub>2</sub>-producing acetogenic bacteria. Moreover, Hanaki *et al.* (1981) observed longer lag phases for methane production and concluded that LCFAs were not inhibitory to glucose fermentation.

Research conducted by Rinzema *et al.* (1994) showed that LCFA  $\beta$ -oxidation is a rate-limiting step. Because of its severe toxicity, the model substrate chosen for this work was capric acid (C<sub>10.0</sub>). They observed lag phases in both capric acid degradation and methane production. However, once acclimation of the culture was achieved, capric acid was degraded. This study showed that a concentration ranging from 1150 mg/L to 1550 mg/L severely impacted aceticlastic methanogens. Similarly, Koster and Cramer (1987) observed a threshold concentration of 450 mg/L of capric acid caused inhibition. They concluded adaptation of aceticlastic methanogens was not possible once the LCFA concentration reached a threshold inhibitory level, contrary to the acetogenic bacteria

inhibited aceticlastic methanogens, but concentrations greater than 30 mg/L of LA slightly inhibited hydrogenotrophic methanogens. Thus, in comparison to hydrogenotrophic methanogens, the inhibition of aceticlastic methanogens is expected to impair the performance of systems treating vegetable oil wastewater (Lalman and Bagley, 2000). Lalman and Bagley (2000) also reported the effects of oleic (C<sub>18:1</sub>) and stearic acid (C<sub>18:0</sub>) on aceticlastic and hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis at 21°C. They reported that SA did not inhibit aceticlastic methanogenesis even at 100 mg/L whereas 30 mg/L oleic acid was enough to inhibit acetic acid consumption and affect hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis. These findings support work by Galbraith *et al.* (1971) and Vidal *et al.* (2000) who reported that LCFA toxicity increased with the number of double bonds.

Beccari *et al.* (1996) examined the degradation of olive oil mill effluent (OME) under various process conditions. They found that a pH of 8.5 was optimum for lipids degradation and all lipids (initial OME concentration was 10,000 mg COD/l) were degraded compared to pH 6 where virtually no degradation of lipids occurred. In addition, acidogenic and methanogenic yields (VFA production/methane production) decreased with increasing OME concentration with methanogenic activity being more sensitive than that of acetogenesis. They concluded, under optimal conditions (pH, temperature, and maximum concentrations) OME can be degraded with high conversion yields. However, because acidogens and methanogens have different conversion yields and different degrees of tolerance to inhibitory compounds, Beccari *et al.* (1996) concluded that a two-stage reactor was more suitable for OME wastewater.

### 2.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 2.1 Experimental Plan

Experiments were designed to investigate the effects of LCFA concentration on glucose fermentation. The experimental plan was divided to examine two objectives. In objective 1, studies were conducted using linoleic, oleic and stearic acids (Table 2.1). The conditions examined are as follows: LCFAs controls containing no glucose, LCFAs plus 1000 mg/L glucose, and LCFAs plus 2000 mg/L glucose. The LCFAs concentrations used in all the conditions examined are shown in Tables 2.1, 2.2, and 2.3.

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
LCFAs conc.	Glucose Conc. mg/L		
mg/L			
50	0	1000	2000
100	0	1000	2000
300	0	1000	2000
500	0	1000	2000
700	0	1000	2000
1000	0	1000	2000

Table 2.1. Experimental Plan For Degradation Study.

The individual acids used are: linoleic, oleic, and stearic acids.

ruolo 2.2. minoritori ottation i or bir ori, 212 ori, and origination				
Individual LCFA	Total LCFA	Glucose		
Concentration, mg/L	Concentration, mg/L	Concentration, mg/L		
25	50	2000		
50	100	2000		
150	300	2000		
250	500	2000		
350	700	2000		
500	1000	2000		

Table 2.2. Inhibition Studies For LA/OA, LA/SA, and OA/SA Mixtures.

LA = Linoleic Acid, OA = Oleic Acid, SA = Stearic Acid.

Individual LCFA	Total LCFA	Glucose
Concentration, mg/L	Concentration, mg/L	Concentration, mg/L
17	50	2000
33	100	2000
100	300	2000
167	500	2000
233	700	2000
333	1000	2000

Table 2.3 Inhibition Studies For The LA/OA/SA Mixture.

LA = Linoleic Acid, OA = Oleic Acid, SA = Stearic Acid.

For objective 2, (Tables 2.2 and 2.3) cultures received mixtures of the three LCFAs acids along with 2000 mg/L glucose. All controls and bottles containing LCFAs (individual and mixtures) were prepared in triplicates. All bottles were monitored for glucose, butyrate, propionate, acetate, methane, and LCFAs. A summary of the objectives of this study, together with the experimental procedures are summarized in table 2.4.

#### 2.2 Reagents

Butyric (99+%) (Lancaster Synthesis, Pelham, NH), propionic (99+%), acetic (99+%) acids (Spectrum Chemicals, Gardena, CA), and D-(+)-glucose anhydrous (99+%) (Lancaster synthesis, Pelham, NH) were used to calibrate the Dionex DX-600 ion chromatograph (IC). Standards containing linoleic (99%), oleic (99+%), stearic (99%), palmitic (95%), myristic (98%), lauric (98%), capric (99%), caprylic (98%) acids (Lancaster Synthesis, Pelham, CA) in hexane (Spectrum, Inc. New Brunswick, NJ) were used to calibrate the gas chromatograph.

Standard grade methane (99.99%) (Altech Associates Inc., Deerfield, IL) was used to calibrate the GC. Hexane and methyl tertiary butyl ether (MTBE) (Spectrum, Inc. New Brunswick, NJ) were HPLC grade (Spectrum). All other chemicals used were reagent grade. Carrier gases used were helium (99.99%) and nitrogen (99.99%) (UHP grade, Air Liquide American Corp.).

Experiment	Action	Relation to objectives
Batch reactor operation	<ul> <li>Feed 6 g glucose (2000 mg/L)</li> <li>Monitor glucose and VFA</li> <li>Calculate glucose initial degradation rates</li> </ul>	• Investigate if there was a change in the glucose degrading organisms population over the duration of the study
Effects of LA, OA, and SA on glucose degradation	<ul> <li>Add to the serum bottles 1000 mg/L glucose</li> <li>Add to the serum bottles the following individual LCFA concentrations: 0, 50, 100, 300, 500, 700, and 1000 mg/L</li> <li>Monitor glucose, VFA, LCFA, and CH<sub>4</sub></li> <li>Calculate glucose initial degradation rates</li> <li>Calculate LCFA initial degradation rates</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Examine the effects of LCFA on glucose initial degradation rates</li> <li>Examine if the presence of glucose enhanced LCFA β-oxidation</li> </ul>
Inhibition kinetics of LA, OA, and SA on glucose degradation	<ul> <li>Add to the serum bottles 2000 mg/L glucose</li> <li>Add to the serum bottles the following individual and mixtures LCFA concentrations: 0, 50, 100, 300, 500, 700, and 1000 mg/L</li> <li>Monitor glucose, VFA, LCFA, and CH<sub>4</sub></li> <li>Calculate Vmax, K<sub>M</sub>, and K<sub>1</sub></li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Examine the effects of LCFA on Vmax, K<sub>M</sub>, and K<sub>1</sub></li> <li>Model the inhibition mechanisms</li> <li>Examine if mixtures of LCFA exerted synergistic effects on glucose degradation</li> </ul>

Table 2.4 Scope of Experiment and Procedures to Fulfill the Study Objectives

### 2.3 Batch Reactors

Unacclimated anaerobic digester sludge from the Stillwater wastewater treatment plant was used as a seed culture. The culture was maintained in a 4-L semi-continuous reactor (Reactor A1) with a 3-L liquid volume. Reactor A1 was maintained at 21°C with approximately 0.9% (9,000 mg/L) volatile suspended solids (VSS). Inoculum from A1 was diluted to 2,000 mg/L (0.2%) VSS into a second 4-L semi-continuous reactor (Reactor A2) using basal media (Table 2.4). Biomass from A2 served as an inoculum source for the 160 mL serum bottles.

#### 2.4 Inoculum Reactors Operation

Reactors A1 and A2 were operated in batch mode and acclimatized to 2,000 mg/L glucose at 21 °C. To avoid shock load, feeding was initiated with 500 mg/L and gradually increased in 500 mg/L increments to a final concentration of 2,000 mg/L glucose. Feeding (after acclimation) with 2000 mg/L glucose was repeated when acetate and gas production measurements indicated that all glucose and byproducts were consumed (within 5 to 6 days). A concentrated glucose feed solution (30,000 mg/L) for both reactors (A1 and A2) was prepared in basal media. The basal media composition used in this study was adapted from Lalman and Bagley (2000) and had a pH of 7.6 to 7.8 and contained the following constituents (as mg/L): NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, 6,000; NH<sub>4</sub>HCO<sub>3</sub>, 70; KCl, 25; K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 14; (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, 10; yeast extract, 10; resazurin, 1; MgCl<sub>2</sub>.4H<sub>2</sub>O, 9; FeCl<sub>2</sub>.4H<sub>2</sub>O, 2; EDTA, 1; MnCl<sub>2</sub>.4H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.5; CoCl<sub>2</sub>.6H<sub>2</sub>O, 15; Na<sub>2</sub>SeO<sub>3</sub>, 0.1; (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>6</sub>MoO<sub>7</sub>.4H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.09; ZnCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.05; H<sub>3</sub>BO<sub>3</sub>, 0.05; NiCl<sub>2</sub>.6H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.05; and CuCl<sub>2</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.03.

#### **2.5 Serum Bottles Preparation**

All studies were conducted in 160 mL serum bottles with a 100 mL total liquid volume at 21 °C. The atmosphere headspace was 80%/20% N<sub>2</sub>/CO<sub>2</sub>. The bottles were prepared inside a Coy<sup>®</sup> anaerobic chamber (Coy Laboratory Products, Inc.) having the same percentage of gas as described previously. Varying amounts of biomass volumes

were added, taking into consideration the glucose and LCFA volumes needed. LCFA and glucose stock solutions were 5,000 mg/L and 20,000 mg/L respectively. To maintain reducing conditions, 75 mg/L ferrous chloride and 75 mg/L sodium sulphide were added to the culture. Resazurin (1 mg/L) was used to determine the anaerobic conditions.

After inoculation, the bottles were sealed with Teflon<sup>®</sup> lined septa and aluminum crimp caps and pressurized with 20 mL of gas mixture (80%/20% N<sub>2</sub>/CO<sub>2</sub>) to avoid negative headspace pressure during sampling. The bottles were placed on an orbital shaker (Lab-Line Instruments, Inc. model No.3520) equipped with an opaque chamber to prevent photosynthetic reactions at 200 rpm. Upon completion of each study, the bottles were sacrificed to measure the pH, alkalinity, TSS, and VSS. Measurements were performed according to *Standard Methods*.

#### 2.6 Gas Measurement

A 20  $\mu$ L GASTIGHT<sup>®</sup> syringe (Hamilton Co.) was used to remove liquid samples from the serum bottles. An Agilent 6890 gas chromatograph equipped with a thermal conductivity detector (TCD) was used for methane analysis. The analytical column was a 30 m × 0.53 mm Carboxen<sup>TM</sup> 1006 Fused Silica Capillary Column (Supleco). The total run time was 2.0 minutes and the analysis was isothermal at 100 °C; the carrier gas was nitrogen at 10mL/min. Methane was detected at 1.1 minutes and the detection limit was 0.8  $\mu$ M.

Calibration standards for the GC were prepared in 160 mL serum bottles purged with nitrogen (UHP grade). All bottles were sealed with Teflon<sup>®</sup> lined septa and capped with aluminum crimp seals, and known quantities of methane were injected into each
bottle. Triplicate samples (15 µL) were removed and analyzed for methane. Calibration standards were used in all headspace analysis to insure the instrument remained calibrated over the duration of this research.

#### 2.7 VFA Measurement

One mL samples for VFAs analysis were withdrawn from the serum bottles and diluted with de-ionized water. After dilution the samples were centrifuged for 5 minutes, then the centrate was removed and filtered using OnGuard<sup>™</sup>-H cartridges (Dionex). The filtered samples were analyzed using a Dionex DX-600 ion chromatograph (IC). The IC was equipped with an AS40 automated sampler, an LC20 liquid chromatograph, a GP50 multi-gradient pump, and an ED50 electrochemical detector. For VFA analysis, a conductivity detector was used with a 24 cm × 4mm IonPac® AS11 column, an ASRS-ULTRA<sup>®</sup> (4-mm) anion self-regenerating suppressor, and an IonPac<sup>®</sup> ATC-1 cartridge. The eluents used consisted of A (dionized water), B (5 mM NaOH), and C (50 mM NaOH) at a total flow of 2 mL/min. The percentage of each eluent is as shown in Table 2.5.

Table 2.5. Ion enformatography encent concentration gradient							
Time (min)	Condition						
0 to 2	93% A, 7% B						
2 to 6	Decrease A from 93% to 0% and increase B from 7% to 100 %						
6 to 9	Decrease B from 100 % to 50 % and increase C from 0% to 50%						
9 to 9.99	50 % B and 50 % C						
10 to 26	93% A and 7% B						

Table 2.5. Ion chromatography eluent concentration gradient

This method provided detection of acetic (C2), propionic (C3), and butyric (C4) acids. The effective detection limits were 0.1 mg/L for acetate, 0.2 mg/L for propionate, and 0.4 mg/L for butyrate.

Triplicate standards for VFA analysis were prepared using a 5000 mg/L VFAs stock solution. The stock solution contained acetic, propionic, and butyric acids and was prepared in de-ionized water. Several standards were analyzed during each sample sequence and compared against the standard curve to ensure instrument calibration.

## 2.8 Glucose Measurement

For glucose analysis, sample preparation was similar to that for VFA measurement. The sample was diluted with de-ionized water and filtered using OnGuard<sup>™</sup>-H cartridges (Dionex). A Dionex DX-600 IC equipped with a 25 cm × 4mm CarboPac<sup>™</sup> MA1 column was used for the analysis. The run time was 25 minutes and a 614 mM NaOH solution was used as an eluent. The detection time was 19 minutes and the detection limit was 0.1 mg/L using a flow rate of 0.5 mL/min.

Triplicate standards for glucose analysis were prepared using a 10,000 mg/L glucose stock solution. Several standards used as quality control samples were analyzed during each sequence to ensure instrument calibration.

## 2.9 LCFA Delivery Method

For straight-chain aliphatic hydrocarbons, hydrophobicity is a function of the number of methylenic groups. As the number of methylene groups increases, the degree of hydrophobicity increases. Short-chain saturated fatty acids (below  $C_8$ ) are miscible with water; however as the number of carbon atoms increases, the solubility decreases rapidly. All saturated acids above lauric acid are considered insoluble in water according to Bloor (1943). The solubility of saturated fatty acids ranges from 680 mg/L for  $C_8$  to 3

mg/L for  $C_{18}$  at 20 °C (Ralston and Hoerr, 1942). Table 2.6 shows the aqueous solubility of  $C_2$  to  $C_{18}$  LCFAs in mg/L.

Table 2.6 Solubility of $C_2$ to $C_{18}$ acids (mg/L) at 20°C									
Acid	C <sub>2</sub>	C <sub>3</sub>	C <sub>4</sub>	$C_8$	$C_{10}$	C <sub>12</sub>	$C_{14}$	$C_{16}$	C <sub>18:0</sub>
Solubility mg/L	Miscible'	Miscible	Miscible	$680^{2}$	$150^{2}$	55²	$20^{2}$	7.5 <sup>2</sup>	$3^{2}$
<sup>1</sup> The National MS	The National MSDS Repository (2001), <sup>2</sup> Ralston and Hoerr (1942)								

Because of LCFAs aqueous insolubility, a delivery method was used to increase the amount available to the microorganisms. This is of particular importance since the substrate utilization is dependent on the physical state of the hydrocarbon. Wodzinki *et al.* (1972) have shown that naphthalene degrading microorganisms utilized dissolved naphthalene and did not utilize the solid directly. Several approaches have been used by researchers to disperse LCFAs in aqueous solution. One approach is to use dispersing agents such as diethyl ether, dimethyl formamide, dimethyl sulfoxide, acetone, and ethanol. These agents work by dispersing the LCFAs into solution and thus increase the substrate surface area. However, a major problem associated with these compounds is their toxicity to microorganisms (Lalman and Bagley, 2000 Sikkema *et al.* 1995).

To avoid solvent toxicity, a delivery method developed by Angelidaki and Ahring (1992) consisted of adding the LCFAs as sodium salts. The LCFAs were melted *au bainmarie* and added to a hot and vigorously stirred NaOH solution. The quantities of sodium hydroxide used (expressed as g of NaOH per g of LCFA) are provided in Table 2.7.

LCFA	Sodium Hydroxide
	used (g/g LCFA)
Caprylic	0.278
Capric	0.233
Lauric	0.200
Myristic	0.175
Palmitic	0.156
Stearic	0.141
Oleic	0.142
Linoleic	0.143

Table 2.7 Quantity of hydroxide used for LCFA stock solution preparation

Amounts are expressed as g NaOH per g of LCFA

## 2.10 LCFA Extraction

Since LCFAs are insoluble in water, an extraction method is needed to ensure accurate measurement of the aqueous samples removed from the serum bottle. The extraction method is adapted from Lalman (2000) and is described in section 2.11. Figure 2.1 shows the percent recovery of  $C_8$  to  $C_{18:2}$  for the lowest concentration (50 mg/L) and the highest concentration (1000 mg/L) used. The LCFA having the lowest extraction efficiency is a  $C_8$  compound ranging from 82% for 50 mg/L and 86% at 1000 mg/L. Higher LCFAs ( $C_{10}$  to  $C_{18:2}$ ) had extraction efficiencies ranging from 89% to 96%.

## 2.11 LCFA Measurement

The method for LCFA analysis is adapted from Lalman and Bagley (2000) and is described below. One mL samples were withdrawn from the serum bottles and placed in a 5 mL vial containing 2 mL of 50:50 hexane:MTBE, 0.05g NaCl, and 2 drops of 50%  $H_2SO_4$ . The vial was sealed with Teflon<sup>®</sup> lined septa and capped with aluminum crimp seals and placed on an orbital shaker (Lab-Line Instruments, Inc. model No. 3520) for 20 min at 200 rpm. Next, the vial was centrifuged for 5 min at 1750 g. The organic phase

## 3.0 Batch Reactor Operation

## 3.1 Experimental Results

#### 3.1.1 Glucose Consumption

Glucose degradation profile for reactor A2 is shown in Figure 3.1. Reactor A2 was fed with 6g glucose to maintain a concentration of 2,000 mg/L (reactor volume was maintained at 3 L). Undetectable levels of glucose were achieved within 240 minutes. The biomass concentration used in reactor A2 was approximately 2,000 mg VSS/L.



Figure 3.1: Glucose degradation profiles for reactor A2.

Tables 3.1, 3.2, and 3.3 show glucose initial degradation rates, maximum reaction velocity ( $V_{max}$ ), and the binding affinity ( $K_M$ ) for serum bottle controls and for reactor A2 respectively. Based on the Tukey's paired comparison procedure (Steel *et al.*, 1997), no statistical differences in glucose degradation rates between the serum bottle controls were

observed. Also no statistical difference was observed between the serum bottle controls

and reactor A2. Similarly, no statistical differences were observed for V<sub>max</sub> and K<sub>M</sub>.

Table 3.1: Glucose degradation rates  $(\mu g \cdot mgVSS^{-1} \cdot min^{-1})$  for control cultures receiving 2000 mg/L glucose.

Ctr #1	Ctr #2	Ctr #3	Ctr #4	Ctr #5	Ctr #6	Ctr #7	Reactor
14.57±0.39	15.19±0.56	15.21±0.46	15.02±0.22	15.01±0.34	14.49±0.35	14.41±0.66	14.29±0.78

Average and standard deviation for triplicate samples are shown. Ctr = control

Table 3.2: Maximum reaction velocity  $(V_{max} mg.L^{-1}.hr^{-1})$  for control cultures receiving 2000 mg/L glucose.

Ctr #1	Ctr #2	Ctr #3	Ctr #4	Ctr #5	Ctr #6	Ctr #7	Reactor
31.2 ±1.32	30.9±1.32	31.8±1.40	31.5±2.15	29.9±1.16	30.4±2.58	32.0±1.40	31.3±1.21

Average and standard deviation for triplicate samples are shown. Ctr = control

Table 3.3: Binding affinity ( $K_M$  mg.L<sup>-1</sup>) for control cultures receiving 2000 mg/L glucose.

Ctr #1	Ctr #2	Ctr #3	Ctr #4	Ctr #5	Ctr #6	Ctr #7	Reactor
474.7±32.1	496.9±36.4	511.7±28.6	476.9±32.5	517.2±31.4	492.5±33.4	499.7±29.6	532.2±51.1

Average and standard deviation for triplicate samples are shown. Ctr = control

## 3.1.2 VFA Degradation

Acetic and propionic acid production profiles are shown in Figures 3.2 and 3.3 for reactor A2. A maximum concentration of acetate was achieved within 4 days and 86% removal was observed within 20 days. For propionate (Figure 3.3) the maximum concentration was achieved within 2 days and complete removal was observed after day 20.



Figure 3.2: Acetate degradation profile for reactor A2.



Figure 3.3: Propionate degradation profile for reactor A2.

## 3.1.3 Gas Production

The total gas production profile for reactor A2 is shown in Figure 3.4. Complete conversion of glucose was achieved within 20 days. The total gas produced was assumed to be composed of methane and carbon dioxide with a ratio of 1:1 (mole:mole) according to equation 6.

$$C_6H_{12}O_6 \rightarrow 3CH_4 + 3CO_2 \tag{6}$$



Figure 3.4: Gas production profile for reactor A2. Theoretical gas produced

## 3.1.4 Mass Balance

The mass balance profile for reactor A2 in Figure 3.5 also show the horizontal line which represents the total carbon derived from glucose. Error bars represent standard deviation ranging from 3% to 11%.



Figure 3.5: Carbon mass balance profile for reactor A2. ----- Theoretical carbon balance

## 3.2 Discussion of Results

## 3.2.1 Glucose Degradation

Statistical comparison of Vmax,  $K_M$ , and initial degradation rates for control cultures and reactor A2 suggests that there were minimal changes in the glucose degrading organism population over the duration of the study. Glucose anaerobic fermentation using mixed cultures produces a mixture of several products (see Figure 1.2). Hitchener *et al.* (1979) have shown that lactate and ethanol are produced in glucose-limited conditions. On the other hand, Grau (1983) reported that ethanol, acetate, formate

and lactate were end products of glucose fermentation by *Brochothrix thermosphacta*. Grau (1983) also showed that increasing glucose concentrations had a significant effect on the end product. For example at high glucose concentration more lactate conversion and less ethanol conversion was observed. In addition, at low pH values more acetate and formate were observed. Moreover, very little carbon dioxide was observed when the pH varied between 6.4 and 7.0. In this research, the end products of glucose fermentation were acetate and propionate with propionate concentrations higher than acetate. Moreover, Ueno *et al.* (2001) showed that product formation from carbohydrate fermentation was affected by the predominant microorganisms in the seed culture. In addition, their work showed that the microorganisms are strongly interrelated and any disturbance of a population at one level affects the entire community and causes an imbalance which affects the product distribution.

#### 3.2.2 VFA Degradation

The anaerobic production and degradation of VFAs is strongly affected by the characteristics of the feed substrate and by the operational conditions such as pH value, temperature, hydrogen partial pressure, and available trace minerals (Ueno *et al.* 2001). Hydrogen plays an important role in the anaerobic energy transfer. For example,  $H^+$  is used as an electron acceptor in several reactions, and hydrogen gas is produced. Moreover, hydrogen gas can be used by hydrogenotrophic methanogens to form CH<sub>4</sub>. In fact, the consumption of hydrogen is critical to the overall performance of an anaerobic fermenter. Gujer and Zehnder (1983) have shown that conversion of butyrate to acetate is thermodynamically unfavorable unless the hydrogen produced can be readily utilized by

hydrogenotrophic methanogens. In addition, propionate degradation is very sensitive to the hydrogen partial pressure, Fuş and Wiesmann (1995) reported that an increase in hydrogen may inhibit propionate degradation.

## 3.2.3 Gas Production

Gas produced in reactor A2 approached 96% of the theoretical quantity within 15 to 20 days. Ueno *et al.* (2001) reported a steady methane formation implies the stable production and consumption of intermediate metabolites. In addition, research by Tabassum and Rajoka (2000) showed that methane production depends on substrate composition. For example, methane production was optimized at pH 7.5 when  $\alpha$ -cellulose was used and at pH 6.0-6.5 when glucose was the substrate.

## 3.2.4 Mass Balance

Carbon mass balance for reactor A2, based on conversion to g of carbon per bottle, was within 10% of the theoretical amount of carbon. An accountability of all the  $CO_2$  produced by fermentation and the amount added to the head space gas caused an error in the carbon mass balance. In particular, because CO2 is aqueous soluble, the fraction produced by fermentation will be in equilibrium with aqueous carbonate species and another fraction will remain in the gas phase. In the presence of hydrogenotrophic methanogens, a fraction of aqueous  $CO_2$  will be converted to methane gas. The conversion of  $CO_2$  to organic and inorganic carbon species caused some difficulties in accounting for all the carbon species derived from glucose fermentation.

# 4.0 Effects Of Linoleic (C<sub>18:2</sub>), Oleic (C<sub>18:1</sub>), And Stearic (C<sub>18:0</sub>) Acid On Glucose Degradation

## 4.1 Experimental Results

#### 4.1.1 Glucose Consumption

Glucose degradation profiles for cultures receiving 1000 and 2000 mg/L are shown in Figures 4.1 to 4.6. Undetectable levels of glucose were achieved within 240 minutes in all the control cultures. In the presence of individual LCFAs at 50 or 100 mg/L, similar removal times were observed. Approximately 25% of the glucose substrate remained undegraded for cultures receiving equal or greater than 300 mg/L.

For cultures receiving less than 100 mg/L LA, glucose removal was accomplished within approximately less than 250 min. Glucose residual was also observed in cultures receiving equal or greater than 300 mg/L OA. The amount of residual was OA concentration dependent. At equal or less than 100 mg/L OA, complete glucose degradation was accomplished within approximately 250 min. A similar trend was observed for cultures receiving SA, however, less glucose residual was observed at equal or greater than 300 mg/l SA.

In the cultures receiving 500, 700, or 1000 mg/L LCFAs, the amount of glucose removed after 100 minutes was less in comparison to the control cultures. No detectable levels of glucose were observed after 24 hours (Data not shown).



Figure 4.1: Glucose degradation profiles for cultures receiving linoleic acid plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).



Figure 4.2: Glucose degradation profiles for cultures receiving linoleic acid plus 1000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).



Figure 4.3: Glucose degradation profiles for cultures receiving oleic acid plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (OA = oleic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).



Figure 4.4: Glucose degradation profiles for cultures receiving oleic acid plus 1000 mg/L glucose. (OA = oleic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).



Figure 4.5: Glucose degradation profiles for cultures receiving stearic acid plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).



Figure 4.6: Glucose degradation profiles for cultures receiving stearic acid plus 1000 mg/L glucose. (SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).

Degradation rates of glucose in cultures receiving linoleic, oleic, and stearic acids plus 1000 and 2000 mg/L glucose are shown in Tables 4.1 and 4.2 respectively. Statistical comparison between each data set was performed using the Tukey's paired comparison procedure (Steel *et al.* 1997).

Table 4.1: Glucose degradation rates  $(\mu g \cdot mgVSS^{-1} \cdot min^{-1})$  for cultures receiving linoleic, oleic, and stearic acids plus 1000 mg/L glucose.

	LCFA Concentration							
	0 mg/L	50 mg/L	100 mg/L	300 mg/L	500 mg/L	700 mg/L	1000 mg/L	
LA	$8.01 \pm 0.24^{a}$	$6.08 \pm 0.33^{b}$	$5.83 \pm 0.17^{\circ}$	$4.41 \pm 0.23^{d}$	3.91 ±0.22 <sup>e</sup>	$3.63 \pm 0.11^{e}$	3.37 ±0.41 <sup>e</sup>	
OA	$8.83 \pm 0.15^{a}$	$8.79 \pm 0.16^{a}$	$7.85 \pm 0.24^{a}$	$5.52 \pm 0.39^{d}$	$4.82 \pm 0.16^{e}$	4.56 ±0.29 <sup>e</sup>	$4.15 \pm 0.17^{e}$	
SA	$8.51 \pm 0.14^{\circ}$	$8.55 \pm 0.52^{a}$	$7.91 \pm 0.36^{a}$	$5.46 \pm 0.16^{d}$	$4.76 \pm 0.14^{e}$	4.12 ±0.64 <sup>e</sup>	$3.93 \pm 0.32^{e}$	

Average and standard deviation for triplicate samples are shown.  $C_{18:2}$  = linoleic acid (LA),  $C_{18:1}$  = oleic acid (OA),  $C_{18:0}$  = stearic acid (SA). a, b, c, d, and e = means followed by the same letter are not statistically different within rows.

Table 4.2: Glucose degradation rates  $(\mu g \cdot mgVSS^{-1} \cdot min^{-1})$  for cultures receiving linoleic, oleic, and stearic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose.

	LCFA Concentration								
	0 mg/L	50 mg/L	100 mg/L	300 mg/L	500 mg/L	700 mg/L	1000		
LA	$14.57 \pm 0.39^{a}$	11.06± 0.26 <sup>b</sup>	$10.18 \pm 0.34^{\circ}$	$8.63 \pm 0.36^{d}$	7.88±0.54 <sup>e</sup>	7.11±0.24 <sup>e</sup>	6.87 0.21 <sup>e</sup>		
OA	15.19±0.56ª	$14.01 \pm 0.34^{a}$	$13.38 \pm 0.48^{a}$	$10.44 \pm 0.34^{d}$	9.61±0.29 <sup>e</sup>	9.19±0.18 <sup>e</sup>	8.78 0.25 <sup>e</sup>		
SA	$15.21 \pm 0.46^{a}$	$14.89 \pm 0.45^{a}$	$13.97 \pm 0.42^{a}$	$10.64 \pm 0.54^{d}$	9.58±0.29 <sup>e</sup>	8.89±0.34 <sup>e</sup>	8.46 0.29 <sup>e</sup>		

Average and standard deviation for triplicate samples are shown.  $C_{18:2}$  = linoleic acid (LA),  $C_{18:1}$  = oleic acid (OA),  $C_{18:0}$  = stearic acid (SA). a, b, c, d, and e = means followed by the same letter are not statistically different within rows.

In comparison to control cultures and those receiving LA, the glucose degradation rates for cultures receiving 50 or 100 mg/L LA were statistically different. However, in the case of oleic and stearic acids, there was no statistical difference between control cultures and those receiving 50 or 100 mg/L OA or SA. Moreover, there was no statistical difference in the glucose degradation rates between cultures receiving 50 and 100 mg/L of the same LCFA.

In the cultures receiving 300 mg/L of any LCFA, the degradation rates were different from the controls and those cultures receiving 50 or 100 mg/L of any LCFA. In cultures receiving greater than 500 mg/L of any LCFA, the glucose degradation rates were statistically different than those receiving 300 mg/L of the same LCFA. No difference in the degradation rates between the cultures receiving 500, 700, 1000 mg/L of the same LCFA was observed.

In addition, there was a statistical difference in the glucose degradation rate between cultures receiving 500 mg/L LA and those receiving 500 mg/L OA or 500 mg/L SA. No difference in glucose degradation rates between the cultures receiving 500 mg/L OA and those receiving 500 mg/L SA was observed. Similarly for the cultures receiving LCFA concentrations higher than 500 mg/L, no statistical difference was observed.

## 4.1.2 LCFAs Degradation

LCFA degradation and their LCFAs by-products profiles are shown in Figures 4.7 to 4.11. In the cultures receiving 50 mg/L LA or OA almost all the LCFA was removed within 20 days. However, removal of SA was slower even in the cultures receiving 50 mg/L. In the cultures receiving greater than 300 mg/L LCFA, very little removal was observed. Palmitic acid ( $C_{16:0}$ ), a saturated LCFA, was observed only in the cultures receiving LA or OA.



Figure 4.7: Linoleic acid degradation profiles for cultures receiving 1000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).



Figure 4.8: Palmitic acid production profiles for cultures receiving linoleic acid plus 1000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).



Figure 4.9: Oleic acid degradation profiles for cultures receiving 1000 mg/L glucose. (OA = oleic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).



Figure 4.10: Palmitic acid production profiles for cultures receiving oleic acid plus 1000 mg/L glucose. (OA = oleic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).



Figure 4.11: Stearic acid degradation profiles for cultures receiving 1000 mg/L glucose. (SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).

Degradation rates for LCFA mixtures and their LCFAs by-products profiles are shown in Figures 4.12 to 4.24. In the cultures receiving 50 or 100 mg/L of mixtures of LA/OA, LA/SA, OA/SA, or LA, OA, and SA approximately all LA and OA were removed within 20 days but SA was degraded slower and was detected after 20 days.

In the culture receiving 300 mg/L of LA/OA, LA/SA, or OA/SA mixtures, LA removal was incomplete after 20 days. In cultures receiving 300 mg/L of a mixture of LA, OA, and SA (100 mg/L each), removal was also incomplete.



Figure 4.12: Linoleic acid degradation profiles for cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic and oleic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, OA = oleic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).



Figure 4.13: Oleic acid degradation profiles for cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic and oleic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, OA oleic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).



Figure 4.14: Palmitic acid production profiles for cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic and oleic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, OA = oleic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).



Figure 4.15: Linoleic acid degradation profiles for cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic and stearic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).



Figure 4.16: Stearic acid degradation profiles for cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic and stearic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).



Figure 4.17: Palmitic acid production profiles for cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic and stearic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).



Figure 4.18: Oleic acid degradation profiles for cultures receiving mixtures of oleic and stearic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (OA = oleic acid, SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).



Figure 4.19: Stearic acid degradation profiles for cultures receiving mixtures of oleic and stearic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (OA = oleic acid, SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).



Figure 4.20: Palmitic acid production profiles for cultures receiving mixtures of oleic and stearic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (OA – oleic acid, SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).



Figure 4.21: Linoleic acid degradation profiles for cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic, oleic, and stearic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, OA = oleic acid, SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).



Figure 4.22: Oleic acid degradation profiles for cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic, oleic, and stearic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, OA = oleic acid, SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).



Figure 4.23: Stearic acid degradation profiles for cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic, oleic, and stearic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, OA = oleic acid, SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).



Figure 4.24: Palmitic acid production profiles for cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic, oleic, and stearic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, OA = oleic acid, SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).

Linoleic, oleic, and stearic acid degradation rates for control cultures (without glucose) and in cultures receiving 1000 mg/L glucose are shown in Tables 4.3 and 4.4 respectively. Based on the Tukey's paired comparison procedure (Steel, 1999), the degradation rates for cultures receiving LA were statistically different than those receiving OA or SA. Also degradation rates for cultures receiving OA were different than those receiving SA. In addition, the degradation rates for cultures receiving 50 mg/L and 100 mg/L and 300 mg/L were statistically different but no difference was observed for cultures receiving concentrations greater than 300 mg/L LA. Similar results were observed for OA and SA. In addition, there was no difference in degradation rates between the cultures receiving LCFA (without glucose) and those receiving LCFA and 1000 mg/L glucose.

Table 4.3: LCFA Degradation rates  $(\mu gLCFA \cdot mgVSS^{-1} \cdot d^{-1})$  for cultures receiving linoleic, oleic, and stearic acid.

	LCFA concentration							
	50 mg/L	100 mg/L	300 mg/L	500 mg/L	700 mg/L	1000 mg/L		
LA	$2.32 \pm 0.21$	$3.33 \pm 0.3$	12.05 ± 0.51	$11.81 \pm 0.09$	11.86 ± 0.22	$12.16 \pm 0.33$		
OA	$0.97 \pm 0.17$	$2.12 \pm 0.11$	8.01 ± 0.33	8.91 ± 0.17	6.11 ± 0.61	$9.22 \pm 0.16$		
SA	0.31 ± 0.19	$0.5 \pm 0.03$	$1.43 \pm 0.2$	$2.62 \pm 0.15$	$2.88 \pm 0.44$	$3.11 \pm 0.13$		

Average and standard deviation for triplicate samples are shown.  $C_{18:2}$  = linoleic acid,  $C_{18:1}$  = oleic acid,  $C_{18:0}$  = stearic acid.

Table 4.4: LCFA Degradation rates  $(\mu gLCFA \cdot mgVSS^{-1} \cdot d^{-1})$  for cultures receiving linoleic, oleic, and stearic acid plus1000 mg/L glucose.

		LCFA concentration							
	50 mg/L	100 mg/L	300 mg/L	500 mg/L	700 mg/L	1000 mg/L			
LA	$2.07 \pm 0.14$	$3.69 \pm 0.33$	$12.52 \pm 0.09$	8.05 ± 0.29	$11.4 \pm 0.19$	$11.89 \pm 0.24$			
OA	$1.13 \pm 0.1$	$2.40 \pm 0.23$	$7.95 \pm 0.24$	8.41 ± 0.23	$9.21 \pm 0.36$	9.59 ± 0.21			
SA	$0.25 \pm 0.11$	$0.46 \pm 0.16$	$1.13 \pm 0.15$	$2.21 \pm 0.43$	$1.72 \pm 0.11$	2.97 ± 0.17			
		1 1 1 0			<u> </u>				

Average and standard deviation for triplicate samples are shown.  $C_{18:2}$  = linoleic acid  $C_{18:1}$  = oleic acid,  $C_{18:0}$  = stearic acid.

Degradation rates of linoleic, oleic, and stearic acids (mixtures) in cultures receiving 2000 mg/L glucose are shown in Tables 4.5, 4.6, 4.7, and 4.8 respectively. Degradation rates for LA were statistically different from OA or SA in all mixtures.

Table 4.5: LCFAs degradation rates  $(\mu gLCFA \cdot mgVSS^{-1} \cdot d^{-1})$  for the cultures receiving 50 and 100 mg/L (total concentration) LCFA Mixtures.

	50			100			
	LA	OA	SA	LA	OA	SA	
LA/OA	1.09±0.04	0.55±0.01		$2.22 \pm 0.19$	$1.02 \pm 0.11$		
LA/SA	1.12±0.06		0.18±0.07	$2.52 \pm 0.05$		$0.33 \pm 0.08$	
OA/SA		0.42±0.03	0.17±0.02		$0.89 \pm 0.09$	0.31±0.1	
LA/OA/SA	0.58±0.03	0.36±0.02	0.15±0.02	1.13±0.09	0.71±0.11	0.26±0.06	

Average and standard deviation for triplicate samples are shown. LA = linoleic acid, OA = oleic acid, SA = stearic acid.

Table 4.6: LCFAs degradation rates  $(\mu gLCFA \cdot mgVSS^{-1} \cdot d^{-1})$  for the cultures receiving 300 mg/L (total concentration) LCFA Mixtures.

300								
	LA	OA	SA					
LA/OA	3.13±0.27	1.62±0.21						
LA/SA	3.26±0.31		0.55±0.23					
OA/SA		1.32±0.15	0.47±0.26					
LA/OA/SA	$3.69 \pm 0.13$	$2.07 \pm 0.08$	$0.81 \pm 0.33$					

Average and standard deviation for triplicate samples are shown. LA = linoleic acid, OA = oleic acid, SA = stearic acid.

Table 4.7: LCFAs degradation rates  $(\mu gLCFA \cdot mgVSS^{-1} \cdot d^{-1})$  for the cultures receiving 500 and 700 mg/L (total concentration) LCFA Mixtures.

	500 mg/L			700 mg/L		
	LA	OA	SA	LA	OA	SA
LA/OA	5.35±0.19	2.48±0.21		10.88±1.62	9.01±0.41	
LA/SA	5.59±0.22		1.01±0.07	11.01±1.43		2.21±0.11
OA/SA		2.11±0.19	0.76±0.1		8.92±1.01	2.44±0.09
LA/OA/SA	5.72±0.37	2.01±0.16	0.92±0.08	7.99±1.21	5.24±0.66	1.83±0.07

Average and standard deviation for triplicate samples are shown. LA = linoleic acid, OA = oleic acid, SA = stearic acid.

Table 4.8: LCFAs degradation rates  $(\mu gLCFA \cdot mgVSS^{-1} \cdot d^{-1})$  for the cultures receiving 1000 mg/L (total concentration) LCFA Mixtures.

_	1000 mg/L					
	LA	OA	SA			
LA/OA	11.62 ± 1.11	8.52 ± 0.09				
LA/SA	$11.71 \pm 1.13$		$2.54 \pm 0.07$			
OA/SA		9.02 ± 0.62	$2.42 \pm 0.15$			
LA/OA/SA	11.12±1.03	8.02±0.41	2.11±0.22			

Average and standard deviation for triplicate samples are shown. LA = linoleic acid, OA = oleic acid, SA = stearic acid.

Also the degradation rates for OA were statistically different than SA. In addition, there was no difference in degradation rates between cultures receiving 50 mg/L individual LCFAs (Tables 4.3 and 4.4) and those receiving 100 mg/L (total) mixtures of

linoleic, oleic and stearic acid (Table 4.5). Similarly, there was no difference between the cultures receiving 500 mg/L individual LCFAs (Table 4.3 and 4.4) and those receiving 1000 mg/L mixtures of LCFAs (Table 4.8). Also, no statistical difference between the cultures receiving 100 mg/L individual LCFAs and and those receiving 300 mg/L LA/OA/SA (Table 4.6).

## 4.1.3 VFAs Production

Acetate, propionate, and butyrate production profiles are shown in Figures 4.25 to 4.31. Acetate and propionate were observed in all cultures receiving glucose. Butyrate, however, was only observed in cultures receiving greater than 300 mg/L LA.



Figure 4.25: Acetic acid production profiles for cultures receiving linoleic acid plus 1000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, average of triplicate samples are shown).

In control cultures, the maximum concentration of acetate was achieved within a day and complete removal was observed within 15 to 20 days (Figures 4.25, 4.26, and 4.27). Similar removal times were observed in cultures receiving 50 or 100 mg/L of each LCFA. In the cultures receiving 300 mg/L SA, acetate removal times were similar to control cultures. However, in the cultures receiving 300 mg/L LA or OA (Figures 4.25 and 4.26) more accumulation was observed, compared to the control cultures, but the removal time was similar to the controls. In the cultures receiving 500, 700, or 1000 mg/L of LCFAs the maximum acetate concentration was achieved after a lag phase of 6 to 8 days and some removal was observed after 10 days (Figures 4.25 and 4.26) only in cultures fed with OA and SA. In contrast, acetate concentrations increased after day 10 for cultures fed with equal or greater than 500 mg/L LA.



Figure 4.26: Acetic acid production profiles for cultures receiving oleic acid plus 1000 mg/L glucose. (OA = oleic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).



Figure 4.27: Acetic acid production profiles for cultures receiving stearic acid plus 1000 mg/L glucose. (SA = stearic acid, average of triplicate samples are shown).

Inhibition of acetate degradation was observed under threshold LCFA concentration. In cultures receiving 50 or 100 mg/L, no significant inhibition was observed compared to the controls. Maximum acetate concentrations were achieved within approximately 1 day and complete removal was observed within 20 days. These results suggest that none of the LCFAs tested were inhibitory between 50 to 100 mg/L.

Although acetate removal in cultures receiving 300 mg/L LA was approximately the same as the control cultures, complete removal was also achieved in 20 days. A similar pattern was observed in the cultures receiving 300 mg/L OA but the inhibition was less than for cultures receiving 300 mg/L LA.

In the cultures receiving greater than 500 mg/L LA, the maximum acetate accumulation was achieved in 10 days. However, additional acetate production seemed to

57

have ceased after 10 days. Similar patterns were observed for cultures receiving 700 and 1000 mg/L. For oleic acid, the maximum acetate accumulation was observed after 6 days and some acetate removal was observed thereafter.

In the case of SA, the addition of greater than 500 mg/L also caused inhibition to acetate degradation. Maximum accumulation of acetate varied between 4 to 6 days and acetate degradation was observed after approximately 6 days.

In control cultures, the maximum propionate concentration was achieved within a day and complete removal was achieved within 10 to 15 days (Figures 4.28, 4.29, and 4.30). Similar removal times were observed for cultures receiving 50 or 100 mg/L LCFAs. In cultures receiving 300 mg/L OA or SA (Figures 4.29 and 4.30) removal times were similar to the control cultures. However, removal of propionate in cultures receiving 300 mg/L LA (Figure 4.28) was less than those receiving similar concentrations of OA or SA (Figures 4.29 and 4.30) with residual propionate observed after 20 days. In cultures receiving 500, 700, or 1000 mg/L of the LCFAs, the maximum propionate concentration was achieved in 6 to 8 days and propionate removal was significantly slower than in the control cultures. Although propionate was observed in cultures receiving SA, greater amount was removed compared to cultures receiving LA or OA.



Figure 4.28: Propionic acid production profiles for cultures receiving linoleic acid plus 1000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).



Figure 4.29: Propionic acid production profiles for cultures receiving oleic acid plus 1000 mg/L glucose. (OA = oleic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).



Figure 4.30: Propionic acid production profiles for cultures receiving stearic acid plus 1000 mg/L glucose. (SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).

Inhibition profiles for propionate were similar to those observed for acetate. Maximum propionate accumulation was observed within 1 day for control cultures and cultures receiving 50 or 100 mg/L linoleic, oleic, or stearic acids. However, in the cultures receiving 50 or 100 mg/L LA, larger quantities of propionate accumulation were observed in comparison to the controls. This pattern was not observed in the cultures receiving similar concentrations of OA and SA. In cultures receiving 300 mg/L LA, the maximum concentration accumulated was greater than the controls. Inhibition was observed but after 2 days of contact time, propionate removal increased and most of the propionate was removed within 20 days. For cultures receiving equal or greater than 500 mg/L LA, an initial lag phase was observed up to approximately 3 days. The peak propionate concentration was observed between 6 to 7 days with a subsequent decrease to between approximately 130 and 180 mg/L.



Figure 4.30: Propionic acid production profiles for cultures receiving stearic acid plus 1000 mg/L glucose. (SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).

Inhibition profiles for propionate were similar to those observed for acetate. Maximum propionate accumulation was observed within 1 day for control cultures and cultures receiving 50 or 100 mg/L linoleic, oleic, or stearic acids. However, in the cultures receiving 50 or 100 mg/L LA, larger quantities of propionate accumulation were observed in comparison to the controls. This pattern was not observed in the cultures receiving similar concentrations of OA and SA. In cultures receiving 300 mg/L LA, the maximum concentration accumulated was greater than the controls. Inhibition was observed but after 2 days of contact time, propionate removal increased and most of the propionate was removed within 20 days. For cultures receiving equal or greater than 500 mg/L LA, an initial lag phase was observed up to approximately 3 days. The peak propionate concentration was observed between 6 to 7 days with a subsequent decrease to between approximately 130 and 180 mg/L.
Propionate inhibition caused by 300 mg/L OA or SA was less than that of LA. In fact, no lag in the maximum accumulation was observed and the removal pattern was similar to the cultures receiving 50 or 100 mg/L of the same acid. The addition of 500 mg/L of LA affected propionate production and degradation severely. Maximum accumulation varied between 6 and 8 days. However degradation activity was restored after 8 days, a pattern that was not observed in acetate degradation for the same LCFA concentration. For the cultures receiving equal or greater than 500 mg/L OA or SA, no lag phase was observed. Propionate accumulation in cultures fed with stearic acid lasted until approximately 4 days and complete removal within 20 days.



Figure 4.31: Butyric acid production profiles for cultures receiving linoleic acid plus 1000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown).

Butyric acid was not observed in cultures receiving OA or SA and was only observed in the cultures receiving equal or greater than 300 mg/L LA (Figure 4.31). The maximum concentration of butyric acid was achieved within 1 to 2 days and complete removal was achieved within 8 to 10 days. A stationary phase was observed but based on the data available no comparative evaluation can be made on the toxicity effects of the three LCFAs examined.

## 4.1.4 Methane Production

Methane production profiles are shown in Figures 4.32 to 4.34. In the control cultures, complete conversion of glucose was achieved within 20 days. In the cultures receiving 50 or 100 mg/L LA, methane production was slightly less than the controls but after 20 days, total methane production was similar to the controls. In the cultures receiving 50 or 100 mg/L OA or SA, total methane production was slightly greater than the controls. In the cultures receiving activity equal or greater than 300 mg/L LA, methane production was less than control cultures. However, in the cultures receiving 300 mg/L OA or SA, the total methane production was greater than that of the controls (Figures 4.33 and 4.34).

In cultures receiving 500, 700, or 1000 mg/L LCFA the total amount of methane produced was less than the control cultures. Cultures receiving LA produced the least amount of methane. In addition, lag-phases of up to 4 days were observed, however in the cultures receiving concentrations greater than 500 mg/L SA, the total methane production exceeded that of the control cultures (Figure 4.34)



Figure 4.34: Methane production profiles for cultures receiving stearic acid plus 1000 mg/L glucose. (SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are).

In cultures receiving greater than 300 mg/L LA lag-phases were observed between 7 to 15 days. However, during this period the culture adapted and methane production was observed. In the cultures receiving 300 mg/L OA lag-phases were also observed for up 4 days but methane production quickly surpassed the amount produced by control cultures. Although LA and OA significantly inhibited methane production at greater than 300 mg/L, OA was less inhibitory and its inhibition was not permanent in comparison to cultures receiving LA. The addition of concentrations higher than 500 mg/L LA caused a significant reduction in methane production. Lag-phases were observed for up to 4 days. After day 4, total methane production was significantly lower than that of the controls in the cultures receiving LA. However, inhibition was not permanent because methane production was greater than the controls after day 10. In the cultures receiving concentrations greater than 500 mg/L SA, methane production was slightly lower than

that of the controls for up to 4 days. After day 4, methane production was greater than the controls. Thus, indicating that although slightly inhibitory, SA did not completely inhibit methane production even at concentrations greater than 500 mg/L.

#### 4.1.5 Mass Balance

Mass balances for control cultures and those receiving LCFAs, expressed as mg carbon per bottle, are shown in Figures 4.35, 4.36, and 4.37. Mass balances for control cultures and those receiving 50 or 100 mg/L LCFA were within approximately 10% of the theoretical amount of carbon. In cultures receiving equal or greater than 300 mg/L LCFA the error was slightly larger than controls. For the cultures receiving equal or greater than 500 mg/L LCFA, the error was larger than the control.



Figure 4.35: Mass balance for cultures receiving linoleic acid plus1000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, average for triplicate samples are used, error bars are standard deviation). ------ Theoretical mass balance.



Figure 4.36: Mass balance for cultures receiving oleic acid plus 1000 mg/L glucose. (OA = oleic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown, error bars are standard deviation). \_\_\_\_\_ Theoretical mass balance.



Figure 4.37: Mass balance for cultures receiving stearic acid plus 1000 mg/L glucose. (SA = stearic acid, average of triplicate samples are shown, error bars are standard deviation). ------ Theoretical mass balance.

# 4.2 Discussion of Results

#### 4.2.1 Glucose degradation

Between the three LCFAs examined, LA was the most inhibitory to glucose degradation. Glucose initial degradation rates were affected by the addition of 50 mg/L LA but the removal times were similar to the control cultures. The addition of 50 or 100 mg/L OA or SA did not affect the initial glucose degradation rate in comparison to control cultures. Moreover, the reduction in degradation rates, due to inhibition, caused by LA was greater than that caused by oleic and stearic acids. The addition of a second double bond had a significant effect on the degradation of glucose. For example, in comparison to control cultures, the addition of 300 mg/L LA caused a 45% decrease in the degradation rates compared to 37% for OA and 36% for SA. This decrease suggests that addition of a second double bond in LA affected glucose degradation. These findings are in agreement with data reported by Lalman and Bagley (in press). In their work, LCFA unacclimated sludge (1500 mg/L VSS) was fed with 500 mg/L glucose. They reported that the addition of 100 mg/L LA affected glucose degradation rates compared to cultures receiving the same amount of oleic or stearic acids.

In comparison to controls, glucose degradation rates decreased by approximately 57% in cultures receiving 300 mg/L LA but no further significant decrease was observed in cultures receiving higher concentrations. This may suggest there is an inhibition threshold above which no further reduction in the degradation rates is observed. Similar threshold were observed in the cultures receiving oleic and stearic acids.

Research on the impact of LCFAs on glucose fermentation is limited except for research reported by Lalman and Bagley (in press) and Hanaki *et al.* (1981). Hanaki *et al.* 

67

(1981) reported no inhibition of glucose degradation occurred when LCFAs concentrations of up to 2000 mg/L (as oleic acid) were added to an acclimated culture. Hanaki *et al.*(1981) used acclimated sludge and this may have reduced, if not eliminated, the inhibitory effects of LCFAs. Their work used acetic acid production/removal as an indication of glucose removal. Two major problems may arise from such an experimental approach. First, acetate is a by-product of both glucose anaerobic fermentation and LCFA  $\beta$ -oxidation. Second, although no research has reported on the effects of LCFAs on glucose degradation prior to research by Hanaki *et al.* (1981), many studies have shown that LCFA inhibited acetate removal even at low LCFA concentration and significant acetate accumulation has been observed in the presence of LCFAs (Koster and Kramer 1986, Angelidaki and Ahring 1992, Rinzema *et al.* 1994, Vidal *et al.* 2000). Given these observations, acetate is not a proper indicator of glucose degradation.

## 4.2.2 LCFAs β-Oxidation

A  $\beta$ -oxidation product observed from LA and OA was palmitic acid. If double bond hydrogenation is not the first reaction step, then the expected  $\beta$ -oxidation product from LA and OA could be a C<sub>16:2</sub> compound in the case of LA and a C<sub>16:1</sub> compound in the case of OA degradation. Neither of theses LCFA by products were detected during this research. This is in contrast to research reported by Lalman and Bagley (2000) and Canovas-Diaz *et al.* (1991) who observed hydrogenation prior to  $\beta$ -oxidation. Moreover, Lalman and Bagley (2000) detected palmitoleic acid (a 16-carbon acid with a single double bond) during LA degradation. This observation may suggest that  $\beta$ -oxidation of LCFAs is culture dependent. A possible explanation for such observation arises by a consideration of the free energies involved in the  $\beta$ -oxidation process. The production of palmitic acid from LA is more energetically favorable than the production of OA from LA (-106.4 kJ/mol for the production of palmitic acid vs. -78.6 kJ/mol for the production of OA, equations 7 and 8 respectively).

$$C_{18}H_{31}O_2^{-} + 2 H_2O \rightarrow C_{16}H_{31}O_2^{-} + Ac^{-} + H^{+} \qquad \Delta G^{\circ} = -106.4 kJ / mole$$
(7)

$$C_{18}H_{31}O_2^{-} + H_2 \rightarrow C_{18}H_{33}O_2^{-}$$
  $\Delta G^{\circ} = -78.6kJ / mole$  (8)

In addition, based on reactions (7) and (8) the production of OA is dependent on the hydrogen partial pressure while the production of palmitic acid is independent (see Appendix B for calculation and references). However, the production of SA and the production of palmitic acid from OA are both dependent on the hydrogen partial pressure (equations 9 and 10 respectively). Moreover, the production of SA from OA is more energetically favorable than the production of palmitic acid from OA (-78.6 kJ/mol for SA production versus –27.8 kJ/mol for OA production see appendix B).

$$C_{18}H_{33}O_2^{-} + H_2 \rightarrow C_{18}H_{35}O_2^{-}$$
  $\Delta G^{\circ'} = -78.6kJ / mole$  (9)

$$C_{18}H_{33}O_2^{-} + 2H_2O \rightarrow C_{16}H_{31}O_2^{-} + Ac^{-} + H_2 + H^+ \qquad \Delta G^\circ = -27.8kJ / mole$$
 (10)

The production of palmitic acid from SA is not energetically favorable (50.8 kJ/mol) under standard conditions (equation 11). However, when the hydrogen partial pressure reaches a critical value, the free energy of reaction (11) is favorable and the reaction proceeds from left to right.

$$C_{18}H_{35}O_2^{-} + 2 H_2O \rightarrow C_{16}H_{31}O_2^{-} + Ac^{-} + 2H_2 + H^{+} \qquad \Delta G^{\circ} = 50.8kJ / mole$$
 (11)

Glucose was examined as a co-substrate for LCFA degradation. However, there is no conclusive evidence from this study that the presence of glucose enhanced the degradation of the LCFAs. This observation is in contrast to the work made by Beccari *et al.* (1996) who reported that glucose enhanced the co-digestion of OA.

No statistical differences in LCFA degradation rates were observed between controls (without glucose) and cultures receiving 1000 mg/L glucose. Moreover, for cultures receiving no glucose higher degradation rates were observed for LA in comparison to cultures receiving SA. In addition, degradation rates increased with increasing concentrations up to 300 mg/L for all LCFAs. At concentrations higher than 300 mg/L, lower degradation rates were observed thus, indicating LCFAs might be inhibitory to their own degradation.

#### 4.2.3 VFA Degradation

The accumulation of VFAs during of this research supports previous research by Lalman and Bagley (2001) who showed that OA was inhibitory at low concentration while SA was not. Moreover, Angelidaki and Ahring (1992) reported that oleate was more toxic than stearate with inhibitory concentrations of 100 to 200 mg/L for oleate and 500 mg/L for stearate. However, in contrast to this research, Angelidaki and Ahring (1992) reported that aceticlastic methanogenic activity could not be restored to cultures fed with 500 mg/L oleate. One possible explanation is the difference in operating temperature of culture used by Angelidaki and Ahring (1992) and this research. Angelidaki and Ahring (1992) used a culture that was acclimated at 55 °C while in this study the culture was adapted at room temperature (21 °C). The microorganisms used by Angelidaki and Ahring (1992) may have a reduced LCFAs tolerance (i.e. more inhibition) at higher temperatures.

Propionate-degrading microorganisms appeared to be less sensitive to the LCFAs examined than acetate-degrading microorganisms since propionate degradation activity was restored in all cases when greater than 500 mg/L of LCFAs were used. Angelidaki and Ahring (1992) reported that oleic and stearic acids inhibited acetate, propionate, and butyrate degradation but they did not compare the LCFA inhibitory effects. Hanaki *et al.* (1981) showed that LCFAs inhibited acetate and butyrate degradations. Thus, since butyrate and propionate degradation is dependent on the hydrogen partial pressure, hydrogen accumulation is expected to inhibit the degradation of these VFAs.

A consideration of the reaction free energies will assist in explaining the experimental observations. Equations 12, 13, and 14 show the degradation of butyrate and propionate and the consumption of hydrogen respectively (see appendix B for calculation and references).

$$C_4H_7O_2^- + 2H_2O \rightarrow 2Ac^- + H^+ + 2H_2$$
 (12)

$$C_{3}H_{5}O_{2}^{-} + 3H_{2}O \rightarrow Ac^{-} + HCO_{3}^{-} + H^{+} + 3H_{2}$$
 (13)

$$CO_2 + 4H_2 \rightarrow CH_4 + 2H_2O \tag{14}$$

The degradation of butyrate and propionate are hydrogen producing (48.3 kJ/mol and 69.8 kJ/mol respectively). Hence, the degradation of butyrate or propionate does not proceed unless the hydrogen partial pressure can be reduced by the hydrogenotrophic methanogens. The conversion of  $CO_2$  and hydrogen to methane acetate is hydrogen consuming (-130.75 kJ/mol). Figures 4.37 and 4.38 shows the effect of hydrogen partial pressure on the free energy of butyrate degradation and propionate degradation reactions.



Figure 4.37: The effect of hydrogen partial pressure on the free energy of butyrate degradation reaction.



Figure 4.38: The effect of hydrogen partial pressure on the free energy of propionate degradation reaction.

According to the relationships in Figures 4.25 and 4.26, butyrate degradation is favorable when hydrogen partial pressure is less than  $15.4 \times 10^{-5}$  atm and propionate degradation is favored when hydrogen partial pressure is less than  $8.3 \times 10^{-5}$  atm.

## 4.2.4 Methane Production

The addition of LA, OA, and SA to the cultures inhibited methanogenesis. Between the three LCFAs tested, LA was the most inhibitory to methane production. At 50 or 100 mg/L LA inhibition was minimal but not permanent. In addition, OA was slightly inhibitory at these concentrations and the cultures adapted much faster than those receiving LA. Methane production in the cultures receiving SA indicates that this LCFA is not inhibitory at the concentrations examined. Moreover, methanogenic bacteria were severely affected when concentrations equal or greater than 500 mg/L LA were added. However, no further decrease in methane production in the cultures receiving concentrations greater than 500 mg/L LA was observed. The results suggest that a threshold condition may have been reached for LA inhibition. In the cultures receiving concentrations higher than 500 mg/L OA, lag-phases were observed for up to 4 days indicating that initially OA inhibited the culture.

These observations agree with research reported by Lalman and Bagley (2000) who reported that inhibition was not permanent for cultures receiving greater than 30 mg/L LA. In comparison to control cultures, less methane was produced in cultures receiving greater than 300 mg/L LA. Lalman and Bagley (2001) also showed that no inhibition occurred until more than 100 mg/L OA was added and 100 mg/L SA was not inhibitory. In addition, Koster and Cramer (1987) observed threshold below which aceticlastic methanogenic activity was not affected by the presence of LCFAs. These observations are also supported in this research. Moreover, Koster and Cramer (1987) showed a mixture of lauric and myristic acids was more inhibitory than individual LCFAs. In contrast to the findings of Angelidaki and Ahring (1992), the inhibition effects

observed for OA and SA were significantly less than those reported by Angelidaki and Ahring (1992). They reported that the addition of 300 mg/L oleate cause a prolonged lag-phase and methane production was inhibited.

# 5.0 Inhibition Kinetics Of Linoleic (C<sub>18:2</sub>), Oleic (C<sub>18:1</sub>), And Stearic (C<sub>18:0</sub>) Acid On Glucose Degradation

# 5.1 Experimental Results

## 5.1.1 Glucose Degradation.

Glucose degradation profiles are shown in Figures 5.1 to 5.4 for controls and cultures receiving mixed LCFAs. Undetectable levels of glucose were reached within 200 minutes in all control cultures. In the presence of 50 or 100 mg/L mixtures of LCFAs, the degradation of glucose was accomplished within 200 to 240 minutes. The addition of 300, 500, 700, or 1000 mg/L mixtures of LCFAs caused an increase in the removal time and little or no degradations were observed after approximately 240 minutes.



Figure 5.1: Glucose degradation profile for cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic and oleic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, OA = oleic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown)



Figure 5.2: Glucose degradation profile for cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic and stearic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown)



Figure 5.3: Glucose degradation profile for cultures receiving mixtures of oleic and stearic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (OA = oleic acid, SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown)



Figure 5.4: Glucose degradation profile for cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic, oleic, and stearic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose . (LA = linoleic acid, OA = oleic acid, SA = stearic acid average for triplicate samples are shown )

The maximum reaction velocity  $V_{max}$  (Table 5.1) and the binding affinity for both the substrate ( $K_{M app}$ , Table 5.2) and the inhibitor equilibrium constant ( $K_{I}$ , Table 5.3) were calculated from glucose degradation profiles using the Eadie-Hofstee plot. The kinetics constants for the individual LCFAs were calculated using glucose degradation data (2000 mg/L glucose) which was presented in chapter 4. The values denoted as bold font are those where the error was greater than 10%. Statistical comparison was conducted using the Tukey's paired comparison procedure (Steel *et al.* 1997).

Statistical analysis of  $V_{max}$  values for each LCFA condition examined showed no statistical difference between the control and the culture receiving invidual or mixed LCFAs. Also, there was no statistical difference in  $K_{M app}$  values between the controls and the cultures receiving 50 or 100 mg/L individual or mixtures of LCFAs. However, the addition of greater than 300 mg/L caused a significant difference in  $K_{M app}$  values of up to

500% compared to the controls. Statistical differences in  $K_{Mapp}$  values were also observed for cultures receiving 300, 500, 700, or 1000 mg/L LCFA.

No statistical differences in K<sub>1</sub> values were observed for cultures receiving equal or less than 100 mg/L individual or LCFA mixtures. However, there were significant statistical differences between cultures receiving less than 100 mg/L LCFA and those receiving greater than 300 mg/L individual or mixtures of LCFAs. Also, differences were observed between cultures receiving 300 mg/L and those receiving greater than 500 mg/L LCFA. No differences were observed for cultures receiving greater than 500 mg/L.

Table 5.1: Glucose maximum reaction velocity (V <sub>max</sub> ) for cultures receiving	, varying
amounts of individual and mixed LCFAs.	

LCFA	Control	50 mg/L	100 mg/L	300 mg/L	500 mg/L	700 mg/L	1000 mg/L
LA	31.17±1.32	31.21±1.52	31.06±1.09	32.36±1.79	30.51±1.33	32.73±4.35	30.96±1.7
OA	32.95±1.62	32.97±2.19	32.46±1.73	31.75±1.5	32.23±2.27	32.84±2.13	31.23±2.02
SA	30.67±1.4	31.35±1.62	30.14±2.11	30.31±3.72	29.32±2.73	29.89±2.94	31.48±2.13
LA/OA	30.91±2.15	31.4±1.46	30.39±3.67	30.45±2.43	30.96±2.35	31.7±1.89	30.91±2.22
LA/SA	31.41±1.16	32.17±1.62	32.32±2.4	31.44±2.55	31.12±2.41	31.77±2.03	30.55±4.96
OA/SA	32.78±2.58	32.76±2.03	33.61±1.58	33.31±2.60	32.35±2.18	32.66±1.58	33.02±3.14
LA/OA/SA	31.05±1.4	31.81±1.62	31.06±2.11	30.66±4.41	30.00±1.73	30.49±3.01	30.97±3.13

Average and standard deviation for triplicate samples are shown. Control = 0 mg/L LCFA.

varying amounts of matvidual and mixed LCT As.								
LCFA	Control	50 mg/L	100 mg/L	300 mg/L	500 mg/L	700 mg/L	1000 mg/L	
LA	496±32ª	511±29ª	491±28ª	1136±95 <sup>b</sup>	1786±117°	1791±114°	1811±140°	
OA	475±36ª	450±32 <sup>a</sup>	467±31 <sup>a</sup>	973±108 <sup>b</sup>	1596±108°	1618±110°	1672±102°	
SA	481±28 <sup>a</sup>	490±30 ª	472±28 °	992±89 <sup> b</sup>	1532±122°	1605±313°	1636±128°	
LA/OA	483±32 <sup>a</sup>	519±40 <sup>a</sup>	503±86 ª	946±80 <sup>b</sup>	1609±84 °	1590±158°	1608±197°	
LA/SA	508±31ª	513±33 <sup>a</sup>	471±25 <sup>a</sup>	991±92 <sup>b</sup>	1585±300°	1601±110°	1604±145°	
OA/SA	502±33ª	456±29ª	496±35 <sup>a</sup>	1068±147 <sup>b</sup>	1582±98°	1592±143°	1572±141°	
LA/OA/SA	480±29ª	432±30 ª	487±31ª	1215±90 <sup>b</sup>	1979±102°	1912±103 °	2001±361°	

Table 5.2: Glucose binding affinity constant ( $K_{M app}$ ) for cultures receiving varying amounts of individual and mixed LCFAs.

All values are averages for triplicate samples. Control = 0 mg/L LCFA. a, b, And c, = means followed by the same letter are not statistically different within rows.

Table 5.3: LCFAs binding affinity constant  $(K_I)$  for cultures receiving varying amounts of individual and mixed LCFAs.

LCFA	50 mg/L	100 mg/L	300 mg/L	500 mg/L	700 mg/L	1000 mg/L
LA	1653±1366	-9920±2049	377±17ª	268±15 <sup>b</sup>	222±19°	192±14 °
OA	-950±27	-5938±16	397±39ª	291±16 <sup>b</sup>	286±25°	212±27°
SA	2672±101	-5344±1205	416±21ª	300±23 <sup>b</sup>	282±88 °	229±20°
LA/OA	671±21	2415±523	429±30 ª	305±32 <sup>b</sup>	313±20°	214±24 °
LA/SA	5080±56	-1373±55	464±28 ª	325±62 <sup>b</sup>	316±20°	236±27 °
OA/SA	-546±141	-8367±122	469±90 ª	322±22 <sup>b</sup>	266±25°	232±33 °
LA/OA/SA	-500±114	6857±501	316±14 <sup>a</sup>	235±20 <sup>b</sup>	196±20 °	160±77°

All values are averages for triplicate samples. a, b, and c, = means followed by the same letter are not statistically different within rows.

No statistical differences in  $K_{M app}$  values were observed for cultures receiving 300 mg/L of OA or SA, or mixtures of LA/OA, LA/SA, or OA/SA. However, a higher  $K_{M app}$  value was observed for cultures receiving 300 mg/L LA. Also  $K_{M app}$  for cultures

receiving 300 mg/L LA/OA/SA (1:1:1) was statistically different than  $K_{M app}$  for cultures receiving 300 mg/L LA. Similar trends were observed for cultures receiving 500, 700, and 1,000 mg/L LCFA.

In cultures receiving 300 mg/L OA, SA, or mixtures of LA/OA, LA/SA, or OA/SA, there were no statistical differences in K<sub>1</sub> values. For cultures fed with 500, 700, and 1,000 mg/L similar trends were observed. However, in cultures receiving 300 mg/L of LA, the K<sub>1</sub> value was lower than those receiving 300 mg/L OA, SA, or mixtures of LA/OA, LA/SA, or OA/SA. Also in cultures receiving 300 mg/L of LA/OA/SA (1:1:1), the K<sub>1</sub> was lower than cultures receiving 300 mg/L LA. For cultures fed with 500, 700, and 1,000 mg/L similar trends were observed.

#### 5.1.2 VFAs Production

Butyric acid concentrations profiles for the culture receiving LA/OA are shown in Figure 5.5. Butyric acid was not observed in any other condition examined. The maximum concentration of butyric acid was achieved within a day and complete removal was achieved within 8 days in all cultures.

The effects of linoleic, oleic, and stearic acids (individuals and mixtures) on the production/removal of propionate are shown in Figures 5.6 to 5.9. In all conditions examined, propionate accumulation was observed. In control cultures, the maximum propionate concentration was achieved within a day and complete removal was achieved within 20 days. In cultures receiving 50 or 100 mg/L of LCFAs mixtures, complete removal was achieved within 20 days.

80



Figure 5.5: Butyrate production in cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic and oleic acids and 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, OA = oleic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown)



Figure 5.6: Propionate production in cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic and oleic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, OA = oleic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown)



Figure 5.7: Propionate production in cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic and stearic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown)



Figure 5.8: Propionate production in cultures receiving mixtures of oleic and stearic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (OA = oleic acid, SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown)



Figure 5.9: Propionate production in cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic, oleic and stearic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, OA = oleic acid, SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown)

In cultures receiving 300 mg/L individuals or mixtures of LCFAs, the maximum propionate concentration was achieved within 4 days in all cases. However, the removal times were variable. In cultures receiving 500, 700, or 1000 mg/L of LCFA mixtures, the maximum propionate concentration was achieved in 6 to 8 days and propionate removal was significantly slower in comparison to control cultures.

Figures 5.10 to 5.13 show the production/removal of acetate in cultures receiving LCFA mixtures. In all cases, acetate accumulation was observed. In control cultures, the maximum concentration of acetate was achieved within a day and complete removal was achieved within 20 days. Similar removal times were observed in cultures receiving 50 or 100 mg/L of individual or mixtures of LCFAs.



Figure 5.10: Acetate production in cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic and oleic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA – linoleic acid, OA = oleic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown)



Figure 5.11: Acetate production in cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic and stearic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown)



Figure 5.12: Acetate production in cultures receiving mixtures of oleic and stearic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (OA – oleic acid, SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are shown)



Figure 5.13: Acetate production in cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic, oleic and stearic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, OA = oleic acid, SA = stearic acid)

In the cultures receiving 300 mg/L of LA/OA or LA/SA less acetate removal was observed than those receiving the same concentration of OA/SA, or LA/OA/SA. In the cultures receiving 500, 700, or 1000 mg/L of LCFAs mixtures, the maximum acetate concentration was achieved within 6 to 10 days and little or no removal was observed after 10 days.

## 5.1.3 Methane Production

Methane productions profiles are shown in Figures 5.14 to 5.17. In the control cultures, complete conversion of glucose was achieved within 20 days. However, in the cultures receiving 50 or 100 mg/L LCFA mixtures, the total methane production was equal or greater than the control cultures. In contrast, in the cultures receiving 300 mg/L mixtures of linoleic and oleic acids or mixtures of linoleic and stearic acids, methane production was significantly lower than the controls. In the cultures receiving 300 mg/L mixtures of oleic and stearic acids, the total methane production was slightly less (OA/SA, Figure 5.16) than control cultures. In contrast, in cultures receiving 300 mg/L linoleic, oleic and stearic acids (Figure 5.17) methane production was greater than control cultures. A threshold LCFA concentration inhibiting methane production is observed in Figures 5.14 and 5.15 while no threshold is observed in Figures 5.16 and 5.17. In cultures receiving concentrations greater than 500 mg/L of mixtures of LCFAs, methane production was significantly lower than that of the controls for cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic and oleic acids or linoleic and stearic acids but was slightly lower for the cultures receiving oleic and stearic acids or mixtures of linoleic, oleic, and stearic acids.



Figure 5.14: Methane production in cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic and oleic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA – linoleic acid, OA = oleic acid)



Figure 5.15: Methane production in cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic and stearic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA – linoleic acid, SA = stearic acid)



Figure 5.16: Methane production in cultures receiving mixtures of oleic and stearic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (OA = oleic acid, SA = stearic acid)



Figure 5.17: Methane production in cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic, oleic, and stearic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, OA = oleic acid, SA = stearic acid)

#### 5.1.4 Mass Balance

Mass balances for control cultures and those receiving mixtures of LCFAs, expressed as mg carbon per bottle, are shown in Figures 5.18 to 5.21. Mass balances for control cultures and those receiving 50 or 100 mg/L mixtures of LCFAs were within approximately 10% of the theoretical amount of carbon. In cultures receiving equal or greater than 300 mg/L of mixtures of LCFAs, the error was slightly larger compared with the controls. For cultures receiving greater than 500 mg/L LCFA mixtures (except for LA/OA/SA, Figure 5.21) a larger standard deviation was observed after day 4.



Figure 5.18: Mass balance for cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic and oleic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, OA = oleic acid, average for triplicate samples are used, error bars are standard deviation).



Figure 5.19: Mass balance for cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic and stearic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are used, error bars are standard deviation).



Figure 5.20: Mass balance for cultures receiving mixtures of oleic and stearic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (OA = oleic acid, SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are used, error bars are standard deviation). ------ Theoretical carbon balance.



Figure 5.21: Mass balance for cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic, oleic, and stearic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, OA = oleic acid, SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are used, error bars are standard deviation). Theoretical carbon balance.

# 5.2 Discussion Of Results

#### 5.2.1 Glucose consumption

The addition of LCFAs mixtures did not affect the maximum reaction velocity. However, the binding affinity ( $K_{M app}$ ) was affected. This observation provided evidence that the addition of the LCFAs severely affected enzymes or receptors responsible for glucose degradation or cell uptake. In addition,  $K_{M app}$  values where the largest for cultures receiving mixtures of LA/OA/SA. A large  $K_{M app}$  value observed for mixtures of the three LCFA support the hypothesis that the inhibitory effect of one LCFA may enhance the effect caused by the presence of another LCFA. Such synergism was not observed in cultures receiving mixtures of LA/OA, LA/SA, and OA/SA. The lowest value of inhibitor binding affinity ( $K_I$ ) was observed for cultures receiving mixtures of LA/OA/SA. This may suggest that the LA/OA/SA mixture might have caused a LCFA substrate to bind more tightly to enzyme or receptors in comparison to individual LCFAs.

In all the conditions examined, the  $V_{max}$  values were unchanged. In contrast, the  $K_{M app}$  values increased with increasing LCFA concentration thus indicating the substrate was bound less tightly to an enzyme or receptor site. Based on Eadie-Hofstee plot for cultures receiving individual and mixtures of LCFAs (shown in Figures 5.22 to 5.28), a competitive type mechanism of inhibition is proposed. From Figures 5.22 to 5.28, the Y-intercept is  $V_{max}$ , the slope is  $-K_{M app}$ , and the X-intercept is  $V_{max}/K_{M app}$ .



Figure 5.22: Eadie-Hofstee plot for cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic and oleic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, OA = oleic acid average for triplicate samples are used, error bars are standard deviation).



Figure 5.23 Eadie-Hofstee plot for cultures receiving linoleic acid plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, average for triplicate samples are used, error bars are standard deviation).



Figure 5.24 Eadie-Hofstee plot for cultures receiving oleic acid plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (OA = oleic acid, average for triplicate samples are used, error bars are standard deviation).



Figure 5.25 Eadie-Hofstee plot for cultures receiving stearic acid plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are used, error bars are standard deviation).



Figure 5.26 Eadie-Hofstee plot for cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic and stearic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are used, error bars are standard deviation).



Figure 5.27 Eadie-Hofstee plot for cultures receiving mixtures of oleic and stearic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (OA = oleic acid, SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are used, error bars are standard deviation).



Figure 5.28 Eadie-Hofstee plot for cultures receiving mixtures of linoleic, oleic, and stearic acids plus 2000 mg/L glucose. (LA = linoleic acid, OA = oleic acid, SA = stearic acid, average for triplicate samples are used, error bars are standard deviation).

In competitive inhibition, the inhibitor binds to active sites of the enzymes thus reducing the amount of [E] available for the substrate by formation of [EI] complex. Since the inhibitor, in this case, does not affect the [ES] complex after it has formed,  $V_{max}$  will not change but  $K_M$  will increase. In the competitive inhibition mechanism, the maximum velocity  $V_{max}$ , can be reached if sufficient substrate is available because at high levels of substrate, all of the inhibitor is displaced by substrate.

## 5.2.2 VFAs Degradation

In cultures receiving 50 or 100 mg/L mixtures of LCFAs, no significant inhibition was observed compared to the controls. This suggests that none of the LCFAs mixtures added were inhibitory between 50 and 100 mg/L. The inhibitory effects due to mixtures of OA/SA and LA/OA/SA were less than that caused by LA/OA and LA/SA mixtures.

A similar inhibition pattern was observed for propionate production and degradation. As an overall comparison, propionate-degrading microorganisms appeared to be less sensitive for the LCFAs added than acetate-degrading microorganisms since propionate degradation activity was restored in all cases where concentrations higher than 500 mg/L mixtures of LCFAs were used.

## 5.2.3 Methane Production

The addition of 50 or 100 mg/L mixtures of LCFAs to the cultures did not cause inhibition to methane production. This may suggest the cultures were able to adapt to

degrading microorganisms appeared to be less sensitive to the LCFAs examined when compared to the aceticlastic methanogens since propionate degradation activity was restored in all cases examined.

The results of this research showed that LA was the most inhibitory to methane production. However, in contrast to the findings of Angelidaki and Ahring (1992), the inhibition effects observed for OA and SA were significantly lower in this work than those reported by Angelidaki and Ahring (1992). Also, inhibitory effects of cultures fed with  $C_{18}$  LCFAs increased with increasing number of double bonds.

This work also showed that inhibition of glucose by LCFA is competitive, the maximum reaction velocity,  $V_{max}$ , did not change. In contrast, the binding affinity  $K_{M app}$ , increased with increasing LCFA concentration. Moreover,  $K_{M app}$  values were the lowest when mixtures of LA, OA, and SA were added indicating that there were synergistic inhibitory effects on glucose degradation.
# 7.0 Future Recommendations

In designing anaerobic treatment systems, several parameters should be taken into consideration. Solids retention time (SRT) should be selected based on the slowest degradation rate of components to be treated. Based on degradation data, SA has a degradation rate slower than OA and LA, thus SA will control the design SRT of a bioreactor. LA has the most inhibitory effects on glucose degradation rates in comparison to oleic and stearic acids. LA concentrations as low as 50 mg/L LA affected the glucose degradation rate. Moreover, based on kinetics data, LCFAs inhibited glucose degradation. Such inhibition does not affect the maximum velocity of the reaction but only affects the binding affinity of the substrate.

Data from this research also showed that LCFAs are inhibitory to VFA-degrading microorganisms. Propionate degradation is very sensitive to the hydrogen partial pressure  $P_{H2}$ . Mosey (1983) and Boone and Xun (1987) observed inhibition of propionate degradation by increasing hydrogen partial pressure. A two-stage reactor can be used as a possible way to eliminate the effects of hydrogen on VFA degradation. In the first stage, carbohydrates are degraded to VFAs and LCFAs which are  $\beta$ -oxidized to acetate and shorter chain LCFAs. VFAs would then be transferred to the second stage methanogenic reactor. Hanaki *et al.* (1981) proposed the use of a two-stage reactor as a way to eliminate the inhibitory effects of LCFAs, however to this date no one has investigated the use of such technology.

The effects of LCFAs on the maximum velocity of the reaction and the binding affinity of acetate, propionate, and butyrate are unknown. Kinetic studies are needed to

investigate the effects of LCFAs inhibition on  $V_{max}$  and  $K_M$  of acetate, butyrate, and propionate.

Angelidaki and Ahring (1992) used a culture operated at 55 °C and showed that concentrations greater than 500 mg/L OA cause permanent inhibitory effects. In this study a culture adapted at 21 °C was used. Data from these studies showed the inhibitory effects due to OA and SA on propionate and butyrate degradation took place at relatively high OA and SA concentrations. Therefore, work is needed to investigate the effects of temperature on LCFAs inhibition of glucose fermentation.

Finally, the effect of individual LCFAs on the fermentation of glucose at 2000 mg/L was not examined in this research. Additional research is required to further clarify the effects of individual LCFA on various glucose concentrations. In this research, no definite conclusion was drawn on the synergistic effects of LCFAs on VFA degradation. Results from additional experiments are required to confirm the synergistic effects of LA, OA, and SA on VFA degradation.

# Bibliography

Alves MM, Vieira JA, Pereira RM, Pereira M A, Mota M. Effects Of Lipids And Oleic Acid On Biomass Development In Anaerobic Fixed-Bed Reactors. Part II: Oleic Acid Toxicity And Biodegradability. Water Res 2001, 35(1), 264-270.

Alves MM, Vieira JA, Pereira RM, Pereira MA, Mota M. Effect Of Lipids And Oleic Acid On Biomass Development In Anaerobic Fixed-Bed Reactors. Part I: Biofilm Growth And Activity. Water Res 2001, 35(1), 255-263.

Angelidaki I, Ahring BK. Effects Of Free Long-Chain Fatty Acids On Thermophilic Anaerobic Digestion. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 1992, 37(6), 808-812.

Angelidaki I, Ahring BK. Establishement And Characterization Of An Anaerobic Thermophilic (55°C) Enrichment Culture Degrading Long-Chain Fatty Acids. Appl Environ Microbiol 1995, 61(6), 2442-2445.

Banerjee A, Elefsiniotis P, Tuhtar D. The Effect Of Addition Of Potato-Processing Wastewater On The Acidogenesis Of Primary Sludge Under Varied Hydraulic Retention Time And Temperature. J Biotechnol 1999, 72(3), 203-212.

Beccari M, Bonemazzi F, Majone M, Riccardi C. Interaction Between Acidogenesis And Methanogenesis In The Anaerobic Treatment Of Olive Oil Mill Effluents. Water Res 1996, 30(1), 183-189.

Bennett GN, Rudolph FB. The Central Metabolic Pathway From Acetyl-CoA To Butyryl-CoA In *Clostridium Acetobutylicum*. FEMS Microbiol Rev 1995, 17(3), 241-249.

Bloor WR. Biochemistry Of The Fatty Acids 2nd Ed 1943, 387 pp.

Boone DR, Xun L. Effects Of pH, Temperature, And Nutrients On Propionate Degradation By A Methanogenic Enrichment Culture. Appl Environ Microbiol 1987, 53(7), 1589-1592.

Borja R, Alba J, Garrido SE, Martinez L, Garcia MP, Incerti C, Ramos-Cormenzana A. Comparative Study Of Anaerobic Digestion Of Olive Mill Wastewater (OMW) And OMW Previously Fermented With *Aspergillus Terreus*. Bioprocess Eng 1995, 13(6), 317-322.

Borja R, Banks CJ. Response Of An Anaerobic Fluidized Bed Reactor Treating Ice-Cream Wastewater To Organic, Hydraulic, Temperature And pH Shocks. J Biotechnol 1995, 39, 251-259.

Borup MB, Muchmore DR. Food-Processing Waste. Water Environ Res 1992, 64(4), 413-417.

Canovas-Diaz M, Sanchez-Roig MJ, Iborra JL. Myristic And Oleic Acid Degradation By An Acclimated Anaerobic Consortia: Synergistic Behavior. Biomass Energy, Ind. Environ., E.C. Conf., 6th 1992, 580-584.

Christ O, Wilderer PA, Faulstich M. Mathematical Modeling Of The Hydrolysis Of Anaerobic Processes. In Proceedings II International Symposium Anaerobic Digestion of Solid Waste 1999, 2, 5-8.

Danalewich JR, Papagiannis TG, Belyea RL, Tumbleson ME, Raskin L. Characterization Of Dairy Waste Streams, Current Treatment Practices, And Potential For Biological Nutrient Removal. Water Res 1998, 32(12), 3555-3568.

D'Annibale A, Stazi SR, Vinciguerra V, Di Mattia E, Sermanni GG. Characterization Of Immobilized Laccase From *Lentinula Edodes* And Its Use In Olive-Mill Wastewater Treatment. Process Biochem 1999, 34(6,7), 697-706.

De Mul MNG, Davis HT, Evans DF, Bhave AV, Wagner JR. Solution Phase Behavior And Solid Phase Structure Of Long-Chain Sodium Soap Mixtures. Langmuir 2000, 16(22), 8276-8284.

Demeyer DI, Henderickx HK. The Effect Of C18 Unsaturated Fatty Acids On Methane Production In Vitro By Mixed Rumen Bacteria. Biochim Biophys Acta 1967, 137(3), 484-497. El-Gohary FA, Nasr FA, Aly HI. Cost-Effective Pre-Treatment Of Food-Processing Industrial Wastewater. Water Sci Technol 1999, 40(7), 17-24.

Evans PJ, Wang HY. Effects Of Extractive Fermentation On Butyric Acid Production By Clostridium Acetobutylicum. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 1990, 32(4), 393-397.

Fadel M. Utilization Of Potato Chips Industry By Products For Production Of Thermostable Bacterial Alpha-Amylase Using Solid-State Fermentation System. II. Effects Of Moistening Agent, Supplementary Substrates, Nitrogen Source, And Application Of The Solid Fermented Substrate For Starch Digestion. Egypt J Microbiol 1999, 34(4), 533-546.

Fang HHP, Chui HK, Li YY. Anaerobic Degradation Of Butyrate In A UASB Reactor. Bioresources Technol 1995, 51(1), 75-81.

Fuller R, Moore JH. Inhibition Of The Growth Of *Clostridium Welchii* By Lipids Isolated From The Contents Of The Small Intestine Of The Pig. J Gen Microbiol 1967, 46(1), 23-41.

Galbraith H, Miller TB, Paton AM, Thompson JK. Antibacterial Activity Of Long-Chain Fatty Acids And The Reversal With Calcium, Magnesium, Ergocalciferol, And Cholesterol. J Appl Bacteriol 1971, 34(4), 803-13.

Grau FH. End Product Of Glucose Fermentation By *Brochothrix Thermosphacta*. Appl Environ Microbiol 1983, 45(1), 84-90.

Guerrero L, Omil F, Méndez R, Lema JM. Anaerobic Hydrolysis And Acidogenesis Of Wastewaters From Food Industries With High Content Of Organic Solids And Protein. Water Res 1999, 33(15), 3281-3290.

Guerrero L, Omil F, Mendez R, Lema, JM. Protein Recovery During The Overall Treatment Of Wastewaters From Fish-Meal Factories. Biores Technol 1998, 63(3), 221-229.

Gujer W, Zehnder AJB. Conversion Processes In Anaerobic Digestion. Water Sci Technol 1983, 15(8-9), 127-67.

El-Gohary FA, Nasr FA, Aly HI. Cost-Effective Pre-Treatment Of Food-Processing Industrial Wastewater. Water Sci Technol 1999, 40(7), 17-24.

Evans PJ, Wang HY. Effects Of Extractive Fermentation On Butyric Acid Production By Clostridium Acetobutylicum. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 1990, 32(4), 393-397.

Fadel M. Utilization Of Potato Chips Industry By Products For Production Of Thermostable Bacterial Alpha-Amylase Using Solid-State Fermentation System. II. Effects Of Moistening Agent, Supplementary Substrates, Nitrogen Source, And Application Of The Solid Fermented Substrate For Starch Digestion. Egypt J Microbiol 1999, 34(4), 533-546.

Fang HHP, Chui HK, Li YY. Anaerobic Degradation Of Butyrate In A UASB Reactor. Bioresources Technol 1995, 51(1), 75-81.

Fuller R, Moore JH. Inhibition Of The Growth Of *Clostridium Welchii* By Lipids Isolated From The Contents Of The Small Intestine Of The Pig. J Gen Microbiol 1967, 46(1), 23-41.

Galbraith H, Miller TB, Paton AM, Thompson JK. Antibacterial Activity Of Long-Chain Fatty Acids And The Reversal With Calcium, Magnesium, Ergocalciferol, And Cholesterol. J Appl Bacteriol 1971, 34(4), 803-13.

Grau FH. End Product Of Glucose Fermentation By *Brochothrix Thermosphacta*. Appl Environ Microbiol 1983, 45(1), 84-90.

Guerrero L, Omil F, Méndez R, Lema JM. Anaerobic Hydrolysis And Acidogenesis Of Wastewaters From Food Industries With High Content Of Organic Solids And Protein. Water Res 1999, 33(15), 3281-3290.

Guerrero L, Omil F, Mendez R, Lema, JM. Protein Recovery During The Overall Treatment Of Wastewaters From Fish-Meal Factories. Biores Technol 1998, 63(3), 221-229.

Gujer W, Zehnder AJB. Conversion Processes In Anaerobic Digestion. Water Sci Technol 1983, 15(8-9), 127-67.

Gunstone FD. An Introduction To The Chemistry And Biochemistry Of Fatty Acids And Their Glycerides 2nd Ed 1967, 209 pp.

Hanaki K, Matsuo T, Kumazaki K. Treatment Of Oily Cafeteria Wastewater By Single-Phase And Two-Phase Anaerobic Filter. Water Sci Technol 1990, 22(3/4), 299-306.

Hanaki K, Matsuo T, Nagase M. Mechanism Of Inhibition Caused By Long-Chain Fatty Acids In Anaerobic Digestion Process. Biotechnol Bioen 1981, 23(7), 1591-610.

Harfoot CG. Lipid Metabolism In The Rumen. Prog Lipid Res 1978, 17(1), 21-54.

Harper SR, Ross CC, Valentine GE, Pohland FG. Pretreatment Of Poultry Processing Wastewater In A Pilot-Scale Anaerobic Filter. Water Sci Technol 1990, 22(9), 9-16.

Harper WJ, Blaisdell JL, Grosshopf J. Dairy Food Plant Wastes And Waste Treatment Practices. Water Pollut Control Res Ser 1971, I-XX, 1-559.

Harris RS, Bunker JWM, Milas NA. The Germicidal Activity Of Vapors From Irradiated Oils. J Bacteriol 1932, 23, 429-435.

Hazlewood GP, Kemp P, Lander D, Dawson RM. C18 Unsaturated Fatty Acid Hydrogenation Patterns Of Some Rumen Bacteria And Their Ability To Hydrolyse Exogenous Phospholipid. British J Nut 1976, 35(2), 293-297.

Henderson B. Effects Of Fatty Acids On Pure Cultures Of Rumen Bacteria. J Ag Sci 1973, 81(1), 107-112.

Hitchener BJ, Egan AF, Rogers PJ. Energetics Of *Microbacterium Thermosphactum* In Glucose-Limited Continuous Culture. Appl Environ Microbiol 1979, 37, 1047-1052.

Hwang S, Hansen CL. Characterization Of And Bioproduction Of Short-Chain Organic Acids From Mixed Dairy-Processing Wastewater. Trans ASAE 1998, 41(3), 795-802.

Hwu CS, Donlon B, Lettinga G. Comparative Toxicity Of Long-Chain Fatty Acid To Anaerobic Sludges From Various Origins. Water Sci Technol 1996, 34(5-6), 351-358.

Hwu CS, Tseng SK, Yuan CY, Kulik Z, Lettinga G. Biosorption Of Long-Chain Fatty Acids In USAB Treatment Process. Water Res 1998, 32(5), 1571-1579.

Jarrell KF, Saulnier M, Ley A. Inhibition Of Methanogenesis In Pure Cultures By Ammonia, Fatty Acids, And Heavy Metals, And Protection Against Heavy Metal Toxicity By Sewage Sludge. Can J Microbiol 1987, 33(6), 551-554.

Johns MR. Developments In Wastewater Treatment In The Meat Processing Industry: A Review. Bioresource Technol 1995, 54, 203-216.

Kabara JJ, Swieczkowski DM, Conley Anthony J, Truant Joseph P. Fatty Acids And Derivatives As Antimicrobial Agents. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1972, 2(1), 23-28.

Kemp P, White RW, Lander DJ. Hydrogenation Of Unsaturated Fatty Acids By Five Bacterial Isolates From The Sheep Rumen, Including A New Species. J Gen Microbiol 1975, 90(1), 100-114.

Komatsu T, Hanaki K, Matsuo T. Prevention Of Lipid Inhibition In Anaerobic Processes By Introducing A Two-Phase System. Water Sci Technol 1991, 23(7-9), 1189-1200.

Koster IW, Cramer A. Inhibition Of Methanogenesis From Acetate In Granular Sludge By Long-Chain Fatty Acids. Appl Environ Microbiol 1987, 53(2), 403-409.

Kramer GR. Hydrolysis Of Lipids In Wastewater. J San Eng Div, Am Soc Civil Eng 1971, 97(5), 731-744.

Kus F, Wiesmann U. Degradation Kinetics Of Acetate And Propionate By Immobilized Anaerobic Mixed Cultures. Water Res 1995, 29(6), 1437-1443.

Lalman JA, Bagley DM. Anaerobic Degradation And Inhibitory Effects Of Linoleic Acid. Water Res 2000, 34(17), 4220-4228.

Lalman JA, Bagley DM. Anaerobic Degradation And Methanogenic Inhibitory Effects Of Oleic And Stearic Acids. Water Res 2001, 35(12), 2975-2983.

Lalman JA, Bagley DM. Effects Of C18 Long Chain Fatty Acids On Glucose, Butyrate And Hydrogen Degradation. Water Res (In Press).

Lalman JDA. Anaerobic Degradation Of Linoleic (C(18:2)), Oleic (C(18:1)) And Stearic (C(18:0)) Acids And Their Inhibitory Effects On Acidogens, Acetogens And Methanogens 2000, 187 pp.

Latrasse A, Paitier S, Lachot B, Bonnarme P, Feron G, Durand A, Le Quere JL. Conversion Of Oleic Acid To 10-Hydroxystearic Acid By *Nocardia Paraffinae*. Biotechnol Lett 1997, 19(8), 715-718.

Lens PNL, O'Flaherty V, Dijkema C, Colleran E, Stams AJM. Propionate Degradation By Mesophilic Anaerobic Sludge: Degradation Pathways And Effects Of Other Volatile Fatty Acids. J Ferment Bioeng 1996, 82(4), 387-391.

Ma AN, Ong ASH. Palm Oil Processing - New Development In Effluent Treatment. Water Sci Technol 1986, 18(3), 35-40.

Martinez J, Borzacconi L, Mallo M, Galisteo M, Vinas M. Treatment Of Slaughterhouse Wastewater. Water Sci Technol 1995, 32(12), 99-104.

Masse L, Kennedy KJ, Chou SP. The Effect Of An Enzymatic Pretreatment On The Hydrolysis And Size Reduction Of Fat Particles In Slaughterhouse Wastewater. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 2001, 76(6), 629-635.

Michel-Savin D, Marchal R, Vandecasteele JP. Butyric Fermentation: Metabolic Behavior And Production Performance Of *Clostridium Tyrobutyricum* In A Continuous Culture With Cell Recycle. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 1990, 34(2), 172-177.

Miron Y, Zeeman G, Van Lier JB, Lettinga G. The Role Of Sludge Retention Time In The Hydrolysis And Acidification Of Lipids, Carbohydrates And Proteins During Digestion Of Primary Sludge In CSTR Systems. Water Res 2000, 34(5), 1705-1713.

Mosey FE. Mathematical Modeling Of The Anaerobic Digestion Process: Regulatory Mechanisms For The Formation Of Short-Chain Volatile Acids From Glucose. Water Sci Technol 1983, 15(8-9), 209-232.

Nair C. Pollution Control Through Water Conservation And Wastewater Reuse In The Fish Processing Industry. Water Sci Technol 1990, 22(9), 113-121.

Nieman C. Influence Of Trace Amounts Of Fatty Acids On The Growth Of *Micro.Ovrddot*. Organisms. Bacteriol Rev 1954, 18, 147-163.

Novak JT, Carlson DA. Kinetics Of Anaerobic Long Chain Fatty Acid Degradation. J Water Pollut Control Fed 1970, 42(11), 1932-1943.

No JT, Carlson DA. Kinetics Of Anaerobic Long Chain Fatty Acid Degradation. J Water Pollut Control Fed 1970, 42(11), 1932-1943.

Paredes C, Cegarra J, Roig A, Sánchez-Monedero MA, Bernal MP. Characterization Of Olive Mill Wastewater (Alpechin) And Its Sludge For Agricultural Purposes. Biores Technol 1999, 67, 111-115.

Peck MW, Skilton JM, Hawkes FR, Hawkes DL. Effects Of Temperature Shock Treatments On The Stability Of Anaerobic Digesters Operated On Separated Cattle Slurry. Water Res 1986, 20(4), 453-462.

Perle M, Kimchie S, Shelef G. Some Biochemical Aspects Of The Anaerobic Degradation Of Dairy Wastewater. Water Res 1995, 29(6), 1549-1554.

Piperidou CI, Chaidou CI, Stalikas CD, Soulti K, Pilidis GA, Balis C. Bioremediation Of Olive Oil Mill Wastewater: Chemical Alterations Induced By *Azotobacter Vinelandii*. J Ag Food Chem 2000, 48(5), 1941-1948.

Ralston AW, Hoerr CW. The Solubilities Of The Normal Saturated Fatty Acids. J Org Chem 1942, 7, 546-555.

Rinzema A, Alphenaar A, Lettinga G. Anaerobic Digestion Of Long-Chain Fatty Acids In UASB And Expanded Granular Sludge Bed Reactors. Process Biochem 1993, 28(8), 527-537.

Rinzema A, Boone M, Van Knippenberg K, Lettinga G. Bactericidal Effect Of Long Chain Fatty Acids In Anaerobic Digestion. Water Environ Res 1994, 66(1), 40-49.

Rovers PJW, Kasprzycka-Guttman T. Analysis Of Organic Acids In Potato Wastewater. Food Chem 1992, 45(4), 283-287.

Sachon G. Treatment Of Wastewater From A Livestock Slaughterhouse. Technical Elements For Selection Of A Treatment Channel. Div Food Sci 1984, 9, 293-305.

Saxena KL, Kaul SN, Hasan MZ, Gadkari SK, Badrinath SD. Packed Bed Anaerobic Reactor For Treatment Of Meat Wastes. Asian Environ 1986, 8(2), 20-24.

Sayed S, De Zeeuw W, Lettinga G. Anaerobic Treatment Of Slaughterhouse Waste Using A Flocculant Sludge UASB Reactor. Ag Wastes (1984), 11(3), 197-226.

Sayed S, De Zeeuw W. The Performance Of A Continuously Operated Flocculent Sludge UASB Reactor With Slaughterhouse Wastewater. Biol Wastes 1988, 24(3), 199-212.

Scholz W, Fuchs W. Treatment Of Oil Contaminated Wastewater In A Membrane Bioreactor. Water Res 2000, 34(14), 3621-3629.

Sikkema J, De Bont JAM, Poolman B. Mechanisms Of Membrane Toxicity Of Hydrocarbons. Microbiol Rev 1995, 59(2), 201-222.

Steel RGD, Torrie JH. Principles And Procedures Of Statistics : A Biometrical Approach. Second Ed 1997,

Tabassum R, Rojaka MI. Methanogenesis Of Carbohydrates And Their Fermentation Products By Syntrophic Methane Producing Bacteria Isolated From Freshwater Sediments. Biores Technol 2000, 72, 199-205.

Talabardon M, Schwitzguebel JP, Peringer P. Anaerobic Thermophilic Fermentation For Acetic Acid Production From Milk Permeate. J Biotechnol 2000, 76(1), 83-92.

Tyree RW, Clausen EC, Gaddy JL. The Production Of Propionic Acid From Sugars By Fermentation Through Lactic Acid As An Intermediate. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2001, 57, 65-73.

Ueno Y, Haruta S, Ishii M, Igarashi Y. Changes In Product Formation And Bacterial Community By Dilution Rate On Carbohydrate Fermentation By Methanogenic Microflora In Continuous Flow Stirred Tank Reactor. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 1991, 50(2), 157-166.

Vidal G, Carvalho A, Mendez R, Lema JM. Influence Of The Content In Fats And Proteins On The Anaerobic Biodegradability Of Dairy Wastewaters. Biores Technol 2000, 74(3), 231-239.

Viswanathan CV, Bai B, Meera PSC. Fatty Matter In Aerobic And Anaerobic Sewage Sludges. J Water Pollut Control Fed 1962, 34, 189-194.

Voet D, Voet JG. Biochemistry: second Ed 1995, 1361 pp.

Wakelin NG, Forster CF. An Investigation Into Microbial Removal Of Fats, Oils, And Greases. Biores Technol 1997, 59, 37-43.

Weng CN, Jeris JS. Biochemical Mechanisms In The Methane Fermentation Of Glutamic And Oleic Acids. Water Res 1976, 10(1), 9-18.

Wiegant WM, Lettinga G. Thermophilic Anaerobic Digestion Of Sugars In Upflow Anaerobic Sludge Blanket Reactors. Biotechnol Bioeng 1985, 27(11), 1603-1607.

Wodzinski RS, Bertolini D. Physical State In Which Naphthalene And Bibenzyl Are Utilized By Bacteria. Appl Microbiol 1972, 23(6), 1077-1081.

Xu LJ, Sheldon BW, Carawan RE, Larick DK, Chao AC. Recovery And Characterization Of By-Products From Egg Processing Plant Wastewater Using Coagulants. Poult Sci 2001, 80(1), 57-65.

Yu HQ, Fang HHP. Acidification Of Mid- And High-Strength Dairy Wastewaters. Water Res 2001, 35(15), 3697-3705.

Yu HQ, Fang HHP. Production Of Volatile Fatty Acids And Alcohols From Dairy Wastewater Under Thermophilic Conditions. Trans ASAE 2001, 44(5), 1357-1361.

Zigova J, Sturdik E. Advances In Biotechnological Production Of Butyric Acid. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 2000, 24(3), 153-160.

Zigova J, Sturdik E, Vandak D, Schlosser S. Butyric Acid Production By *Clostridium Butyricum* With Integrated Extraction And Pertraction. Process Biochem 1999, 34(8), 835-843.

# Appendixes

# Appendix A: Schematic Of The Batch Reactors



Figure A.1: Primary and secondary reactors schematic.

# Appendix B: Free Energies ( $\Delta G$ ) For Some Reactions

Reaction:	$\Delta G(KJ/mole)$
Glucose to acetate: Glucose + $4H_2O \rightarrow 2Ac^- + 2HCO_3^- + 4H^+ + 4H_2$	-206 <sup>1</sup>
Glucose to butyrate: $C_6H_{12}O_6 \rightarrow C_4H_8O_2 + 2CO_2 + 2H_2$	-224 <sup>1</sup>
Acetate to $CH_4$ : Ac <sup>-</sup> + H <sub>2</sub> O $\rightarrow$ HCO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup> + CH <sub>4</sub>	-31.0 <sup>1</sup>
Acetate to Butyrate: $2Ac^{-} + H^{+} + 2H_2 \rightarrow Bu^{-} + 2H_2O$	-48.11
Butyrate to acetate: Bu <sup>+</sup> + 2H <sub>2</sub> O $\rightarrow$ 2Ac <sup>+</sup> +H <sup>+</sup> + 2H <sub>2</sub>	48.3 <sup>1</sup>
Propionate to acetate: $Pr^{-} + 3H_2O \rightarrow Ac^{-} + HCO_3^{-} + H^{+} + 3H_2$	18.3 <sup>1</sup>
$CO_2$ to $CH_4$ : $CO_2 + 4H_2 \rightarrow CH_4 + 2H_2O$	-130.7 <sup>1</sup>
Linoleic acid to palmitic acid: $C_{18}H_{31}O_2^- + 2 H_2O \rightarrow C_{16}H_{31}O_2^- + Ac^- + H^+$	$-106.4^2$
Oleic acid to palmitic acid: $C_{18}H_{33}O_2^- + 2 H_2O \rightarrow C_{16}H_{31}O_2^- + Ac^- + H_2 + H^+$	-27.8 <sup>2</sup>
Stearic acid to palmitic acid: $C_{18}H_{35}O_2^- + 2 H_2O \rightarrow C_{16}H_{31}O_2^- + Ac^- + 2H_2 + H^+$	50.8 <sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Thauer et al. (1977), <sup>2</sup> Lalman and Bagley, (2000)

$\Delta G(KJ/mole)$ vs. Hydrogen Partial Pressure (atm)	
CO <sub>2</sub> to CH <sub>4</sub> :	$\Delta G = -22.8 \left( \log \left[ P_{H_2} \right] + 5.28 \right)$
Butyrate to acetate = -(acetate to butyrate):	$\Delta G = 11.4 (\log [P_{H_2}] + 3.81)$
Propionate to acetate:	$\Delta G = 17.1 \left( \log \left[ P_{H_2} \right] + 4.08 \right)$

#### Appendix C: Example Calculations for Statistical Comparisons, Degradation Rates,

#### and Mass Balances.

Statistical comparison is made using Tukey's w procedure: Two means are declared different if the difference between the two means is larger than w i.e.

$$\left|\overline{X}_{1}-\overline{X}_{2}\right| \gg \text{ where } w = q_{\alpha}(t, df_{w}) \sqrt{\frac{Sw^{2}}{n_{i}}},$$

- *t* is the batch number or the number of cases, t = 7 (0, 50, 100, 300, 500, 700, and 1000 mg/L).
- $n_i$  is the sampling number = 3 (sampling is done in triplicates).
- $df_w = n_i 1$
- $\alpha$  is the confidence level, the default value is used (0.95)
- $q_{\alpha}$ : upper percentage points of the studentized range, values are pre-calculated and can be obtained from any statistical textbook.
- $Sw^2$

Degradation rates are calculated using GraphPad Prism version 3.00 for

Windows, GraphPad Software, San Diego California USA, www.graphpad.com.

Example: glucose degradation profiles for the cultures receiving 1000 mg/L glucose. (see figure 4.1, control).

$$C mg / L = 1980 (1 - e^{-0.485t}) \Rightarrow v = \frac{-dC}{dt} = 961.2 \cdot e^{-0.485t}$$
  
At t = 0  $\Rightarrow$  initial degradation rate = 961.2 mg.L<sup>-1</sup>.hr<sup>-1</sup> = 16.2 mg.L<sup>-1</sup>.min  
Biomass concentration = 2000 mg VSS.L<sup>-1</sup>  $\Rightarrow$   
initial degradation rate = 8.01 µg.mg VSS<sup>-1</sup>.min

Mass balance calculation is done using the following formula:

 $\Sigma$ Substrate=0 =  $\Sigma$ Product<sub>t</sub> +  $\Sigma$ Substrate<sub>t</sub> Example: cultures receiving 1000 mg/L LA plus

1000 mg/L glucose (see figures 4.1, 4.7, 4.25, 4.28, and 4.32)

at t = 0, theoretical amount is 78 mg C (from LA) + 40 mg C (from glucose) = 118 mg C

at 20 days, C mass = 68 mg C (from LA) + 11 mg C (from acetate) + 11 mg C (from

propionate) + 22 mg C (from  $CH_4$ ) = 112 mg C

# VITA

# Houssam A. Alosta

## Candidate for the degree of

## Master of Science

# Thesis: EFFECTS OF LINOLEIC (C18:2), OLEIC (C18:1), AND STEARIC (C18:0) ACIDS ON THE ANAEROBIC FERMENTATION OF GLUCOSE

Major Field: Biosystems Engineering

Biographical:

- Personal Data: Born in Beirut, Lebanon, On August 5, 1975, the son of Aref and Hoda Alosta.
- Education: Graduate from St. Elie High School, Beirut, Lebanon in June 1993; received Bachelor of Science degree in Civil Engineering from Beirut Arab University in June 1999. Completed the requirements for the Master of Science degree with a major in Biosystems Engineering at Oklahoma State University in May 2002.
- Experience: Employed by A.C.C. Lebanon as an Assistant Engineer, 1995 to 1999;
  Employed by Oklahoma State University, Department of Civil and
  Environmental Engineering as a graduate teaching assistant for the year of
  2000; Employed by Oklahoma State University, Department of Biosystems
  Engineering as a graduate research assistant, 2001 to present.

Professional Memberships: Lebanese Syndicate of Professional Engineers.